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v

suppression of a forest fire by a land owner on his property. Any fines paid
by convicted violators of this law would be used to support state schools.62
Laughton's other recommendations were not enacted into law.

The next several sessions of the legislature were concerned with
matters that did not deal with the foreéts, except to establish the office of
Land Commissioner. The operation of this new office will be described below,

3tate Senator Lesh introduced SB 213 in the 1895 legislature to create
a state forestry commission, but this bill was postponed by the Committee on
Irrigation and Arid Lands. Outgoing Governor J. H. McGraw told the 1857
legislature that a forest-fire patrol was needed and that punishment should
be provided for trespass. He also recommended the establishment of a state
forestry commission to serve without pay, to work with the Land Commissioner.
A forester should be on this new commission and the members selected on =
bipartisan basis.63 Responding to MeGraw's supgestion, Senator Lesh reintro-
duced his bill with a new number, SB 188. This time it passed the senate,
but was defeated in the house 22 to 46,

The 1901 legislature enacted several laws that affected the forest
industries. These laws provided for fines and prison terms for defacing log
brands or destroying log booms.éu The votes for passapge were unanimous in
both houses, The legislature also established the office of State Fire

65

Marshal, but made no mention of forest fires.

Fire Protection Laws -- Until 1902, the lepislature of Washington showed

concern for protection of commerce by protecting log booms, legalizing brands,

OzLaws, 1891, Ch. CXXII. 63Gnv. lessages, 1397, p. 7.

6 65

“Laws, 1901, Ch. XXV, XL, CXXIII. Ibid., Ch. CLXII.
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defining scaling practices, and attempting to inflﬁence lower railroad
freirht rates. Forest fires were considered an act of trespass, something
for the individual to control. As far as resource conservation was concerned,
oysters, bees, flowers, rish, and game animals were protected or regulated in
some fashion, but forest resources were ﬁot. Then the 1902 fire season
occurred,

Fires in the forest were common., Seattle newspapers had reported
smoke and haze from fires for decades, but 1902 was different; the whole

Northwest was smokey.66 The front page of the Seattle Post-Intelligencer

screamed,

Lives and property lost in disastrous forest fire .... Flames . . .
are past control .... Zlma [Washington] is endangered .... Lives
lost in woods .... Report of losses and suffering north of Aberdeen
»ees Day made night by dense smoke .... Zlackened atmosphere fright-
ens people of Astoria ..., Citizens of Tillamook [Oregon] leave
everything to fight fire.o7

In Hoguiam the following week, forester Frank Lamb could not see well enough
in the smoke-caused darkness to ride his horse at nine in the morning.68

Almost $9 million was lost in Washington, $4 million in Oregon, accord-
ing to Bureau of Forestry reports.69 The dry spring had prevented spring

burning of logging slash, so that a great deal of fuel was left on the ground

until fall, This, coupled with a dry east wind and the usual amount of

66
JCFor a more detailed account of the 1902 fire season, see Stewart H.

iiolbrook, Surning an empire: Lthe story of American forest fires (New York:
daciiillan Co., 1943), Ch. 10.

67

Seattle Post-Intelligencer, Sept. 12, 1902, p. 1.

b“‘J’cm'ank d. Lamb, "We pioneers," Unpublished typescript, copy in Univer-
sity of Wwashington Library, p. 143.

9Tinberman, Dec. 1902, p. L.
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carelessness, was the cause of this severe fire season, The Timberman

commented:

The recent fires have demonstrated that the timber of Oregon
and Washington will burn when conditions are favorable, and unless
adequate laws are enacted, which will have a tendency to check
careless and irresponsible individuals from setting out fires, we
may look forward to a repetition of the recent conflagrations,

There is neither sense nor justice in attempting to disguise
these self-apparent facts, and if the owners of timber lands and
the people of Oregon and Washington in general, will awaken to a
realization of these dangers, and pass remedial laws, the lesson
learned by the 1902 fires will not have been too dearly bought,?”0

The following month, the Timberman requested stricter fire laws requiring
slash disposal and rewards for conviction of violators. Lumberman Alex

71

Polson of Hoguiam advocated slash burning’” and George H, Emerson, manager of

the Northwestern LumberyCompany of Hoquiam, favored fire prevention in logged-
off lands in order to save residual reproduction.72 The Post-Intelligencer
reported that the state legislature had been asked to take immediate steps to
stop forest fires. The lumber industry was now prepared to fight for a
patrol law, which was supported by the Land Commissioner.?3
On March 16, 1903, Governor Henry McBride signed into law HB 82, which
designated the State Land Commissioner as ex-officio forest fire warden and
all state forest cruisers as ex-officio wardens-at-large. Provisions were
made for closure during hazardous seasons and for spark arrestors.74 This

law was passed almost unanimously in both houses. Both Oregon and Washington

legislatures had passed forest fire laws in 19073, but the Democratic governor

7 7

OTimberman, Oct., 1902, p. 5. 1Timbex'man, Nov., 1902, p. 9,

72Timberman, Dec., 1902, p. 9.

?3seattle Post-Intelligencer, Nov. 26, 1902, p. 16.

0
"Laws, 1903, Ch. 114,
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in Oregon vetoed the product of the Republican legislature. The Washington
legislature had largely copied its law from Oregon.75
The 1903 law was not satisfactory because it delegated responsibility
to the counties to finance the fire patrols. Counties were unable to mount
an organized fire campaign, which prompt;d lumbermen to ask the 1905 legisla~

76 George Long

ture for a state-wide organization supported with state funds,
of the Weyerhaeuser Timber Company coordinated the industrial plan; much
Weyerhaeuser timber had been threatened by the vast "Yacolt" fire of 1902 in
southwestern Washington.

Senate bill 246, introduced by Senator Rands of Clarke County in 1905,
provided for the preservation of forests by preventing and suppressing forest
fires, created a State Board of Forest Commissioners, and other substantial
regulations., Burning permits were required, throwing away of burning mater-
ial was prohibited, and fire wardens had authority to commandeer individuals
to assist in suppression work."77 The official account of the vote shows 58
to 13 in the house and 29 to 3 in the senate favoring passage. The only real
opposition came from the lightly-timbered counties in the east. The three
senators who opposed were from Spokane and 10 of the 173 opposed in the house
were from eastern Washington.

An unofficial report of this same legislative action cast a critical
light on official records. Frank Lamb, the son-in-law of lumberman George
Emerson, had been assigned by the lumber industry to be its lobby in COlympia

during the 1905 session to help certain bills through the legislative maze,

76

75p "Lamb, p. 146,

imberman, Mar., 1903, p. 21.

7?Laws, 1905, Ch. 164,
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According to Lamb, who offers this eyewitness accéunt, 5B 246 had already

passed the senate,

.« o » but the last day of the session came and the hour approached
twelve o'clock, the constitutional closing time, and our forest
fire till was quite a way down the house calendar. It looked like
we would lose out by a nose at the finish line, but Joe Irving
[house sponsor of the bill] saved the day by jumping up on his
desk after the clock had been stopped at 11:55 and while pandemon-
ium reigned in the chamber, secured the chair's recognition and
moved the forest fire bill be placed in passage. With the conniv-
ance of a reading clerk who did not read one word in ten, some
loud shouts of "Aye" from a few supporters, the chair ruled that
the bill was carried.?”8

Whether 58 members of the house were really in favor of this bill is lost to
history, but the new Board of Forest Commissioners came into existence and a
state organization supported by state appropriations began to tackle the
problem of forest fires.

Acknowledging the service Lamb rendered the lumber industry, the
Timberman stated that

The lumbermen of Washington are under long and deep obligation

to Frank H. Lamb, of Hoquiam, secretary of the Northwest Loggers®
Association, for the splendid results attained in the passage of
the fire and right-of-way legislation. His marshaling of facts
and his convincing arguments in behalf of the measures in which he
was specially interested -- will live.’?

In March, 1905, the limberman commented on the recently ended legisla-
tive session and accounted for the enactment of so many laws that the lumber
industry had supported. ". . . [L]umbermen were in strong evidence in both
houses, any reasonable bill could be passed."80 Besides creating the Board

of Forest Commissioners, the legislature passed two other laws that are

examples of the influence that the lumber industry wielded. In the senate,

78Lamb, p. 147. "Irimberman, Mar. 1905, b. 17.

80 rnig,
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Pott's SB 87 gave the Land Commissioner power to éxtend removal time on state
timber sales; Smith's SB 93 required railroad cars to be weighed separately
and at a standstill, and stakes were tare weight, not freight Weight.81 This
requirement forced the railroads to absorb the cost of hauling stakes. In
the house many bills similar to those iﬂ the senate were introduced, but the
senate version was usually adopted.

The legislature did not pass everything the lumber industry wanted,
however, Lumberman Veness introduced two bills in the senate: one to permit
sale of state timber lands to make the highest profit, This bill passed the
senate, but the house failed to take action. Veness' other bill would have
promoted reforestation of cut-over land; this too died in committee, In the
house, McCoy sponsored'a bill that would have taxed timber when sold sepa-
rately from the land; after passing unanimously in the house, the tax bill

died in a senate committee,

Railroad Legislation and Lumbering -- In addition to enacting laws that dealt

directly with timber lands, the legislature was concerned with the means by
which lumber was moved to market., HRailroads were a source of both pleasure
and pain to the lumbermen of Washington. Although the railroad provided
vital transportation of products to eastern markets, it also charged more for
its services than local industries wished to pay. This situation was not
unique to Washington and eventually the disputants called upon the ICC to
arbitrate, In the meantime, local solutions were attempted in order to pro-
vide a method of regulating transportation for the advantage of local

industry,

]
“lLaws, 1905, Ch, 47, 126,
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Private Forestry Associations

ter 1902, lumbermen began a serious effort to protect their timber
land against fire. Several associations were formed to coordinate protection
efforts, but these groups were not satisfactory. In January 1909, represen-
tatives of several lumber companies met in Spokane and organized the Western

102 This association was sble to improve

Forestry & Conservation Association,
relations between public and private forestry in the Northwest as well as
provide a focus for industrial fire protection programs., Not limited only to
Washington, the association employed k. T. Alleh, until then a forester for
the Forest Service, te organize a full-time attack on fire. Allen later
asserted that Washington had increased its protection appropriation from
$23,000 to $38,000 because of the effective influence of his association.lo3
Perhaps this increase was caused by being shamed by industrial efforts; while
the State of Washington spent $33,000 on forest protection in 1911, the lumber

. , 104
industry spent $207,000,

05

Allen developed into an important industrial spokesman'”” and for the
next several decades his speeches on a variety of problems were printed in

lumber trade journals. In 1911, Allen authored a slim Look that attempted to

6
explain the application of conservation principles.lo' de presented a wealth

102, . :
zhestern Forestry & Conservation Association, Forty vears of western
forestry: a history of the movement to conserve forest resources by coopera-
tive effort, 1909-1949 (Portland, Ore.: Western Forestry % Conservation
1949), ».

Association, 2.
103 104 ’
Timberman, Apr. 1911, n. 32D. Timberman, Dec., 1911, pp. 21, 2¢,

iO5Charles 5. Cowan, "Forest protection comes under the microscope,"
Forest History, II (Winter, 1959), pp. [3-14].

106,
Do

. Allen, Practical forestry in the Pacific Northwest (Portland,
Ore.: western Forestry % Conservation Association, 1911),
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slash burning. Also, civilians must fight fires when called. "~

ilore impor-
tant, and the result of much pressure bty the lumber industry, a compulsory
fire patrol law was passed 33 to 0 and 73 to 2. This law required each
forest land owner to provide protection. In eastern Wwashington, Forest
Service patrols were considered adequate; n the west side of the Cascades,
a tax of 5 cenits per acre per year was paid to the state to provide the
needed protection., If the forest land owner was a member of an industrial
protection association, he was exempt from the tax. The law also required a
land owner to begin suppressing fires on his own land without waiting for
instructions from the State Forester.62 Owners of large tracts of forests
had been protecting their land from fires for years, and in effect protectine
other adjacent lands, Now all forest land would be protected and the cost
spread among all the owners.

In 1903, the state legislature had responded to industrial pressures
ard enacted a weak fire-protection law., The law proved inadequate and in
1905 a substantially stronger fire law was passed. HNow in 1917, just 12 or
14 years after the timber land owners began showing a determination to
protect their property from fire, a state-wide, mandatory requirement
appeared that forced all forest land owners to actively contribute to the
protection effort, It would seem that when the industry presented its case

to the legislature, the legislators, after deliberation, responded favorably.

#llaws, 1917, Ch. 33. ©2Teig., Ch. 105,
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therein: timber prices, timber sales, consultation with
the Indians by BIA, and alternative means of providing
sustained income to allottees. Although various critics

of federal Indian policy assumed that the BIA was "selling
out" Quinault interests to exploiters of the public domain,
Neuberger meant only to prod the BIA to consider more
equitable, efficient methods. At the hearings, Claude Wain
sourly charged the government agency with raising stumpage
rates by 30 percent as soon as the hearings were announced.
Malcolm Mcqigod, a Seattle lawyer specializing in Indian
claims, described as unfair the fact that allottees paid
the 10 percent charge even after surrendering their powers

-~

Officials of the Rayonier and

27
of attorney to the bureau.

Aloha Companies not only denied alleged price discrepencies
but insisted that their contracts were far from being
bargains. Because of the multitude of federal requirements

they had to meet, the contracts had proved to be burdensome

.arrangements. An expert from the GAO reported on the

results of an audit of the BIA begun in 1952 and extended
to the Portland Area office in 1956. He said that the
bureau had undervalued Indian timber, had not employed
proper appraisal or scaling methods, and had failed to
correlate its ratios with other federal timber agencies.
Although the subcommittee members included Jackson

of Washington, who had first expressed concern for the

[
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INTRODUCTION

The Quinault Indian Reservation occupies a 190,000
acre wedge of land on the ocean side of the Olympic Peninsula
in northwestern Washington. On the east, the reservation
borders on Lake Quinault in the foothills of the Olympic Range.
Boundary lines run northwesterly and southwesterly across bench
lands, reaching the Pacific Ocean above the mouth of the Queets
River on the north and some miles above Grays Harbor on the south.
The Olympic National Forest and state timberlands border the
reservation to the north and east, and private holdings adjoin
it to the south and north. With the exception of its extreme
northwestern reaches, the reservation lies within Grays Harbor
County and is closely aligned with the forest-oriented economy
of that county. |

The reservation is drained by the fairly large Quinault
and Queets rivers, by the smaller Raft and Moclips rivers, and
by numerous small creeks. Dralnage, however, is very poor
because of the saturation of the.soil by heavy rains. "We have
the greatest rainfall in the United States," a Bureau of Indian

Affairs official noted in 1911, "the maximum fall being a little



over thirteen . . . feet annually. With the exception of the
months of july and August, there is hardly a day in the year
but what some trace of precipitation can be found, and during
the months named, there is an increasing conflict between Sun
and fog."l A Forest Service study found that "along the coast
the average annual rainfall is usually above 80 inches, and in

some years has exceeded 100 inches. . . . At Lake Quinault

the annual average is approximately 130 inches." ~
(1) cede

Most of the timber on the reservation is eedse and

d

hemlock. Forty-eight pef:bent of the original forest consisted
of the former and 26 peﬁ:?ent of the 1atter; only eight peé:pent
of the timber was Douglas fir.3 "The timber," reservation
superintendent N. O. Nicholson reported in 1930, "is a jungle of
tall trees, windfalls, deep duff, brush growing on old windfalls
and much of the ground is marshy because of the holding back of

i

the runoff from the abundant rains."” What one observer called

"a solid wall or mat of vegetation" confronted those persons

. R S EE WPV 5

interested in explesting the resources of the reservation.
Sl

1F. R. Archer to Wesley L. Jones, May 11, 1911,
Wesley L. Jones Papers, Manuscripts Collection, University of
Washington Library, Seattle @H-i}. ( Def Ex. H-1),

William S. Sankela, Forest Statistics for Grays
Harbor County, Washington (Portland, 1938), 2 @ﬁ-24%'©<4.Ex,b4~1)

3Armual Forest Report, Fiscal Year 1925--Quinaielt
Indian Reservation, Tahola Indian Agency Records, Record Group
75, Federal Records Center, Seattle (H-3).

uN. 0. Nicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
November 24, 1930, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-4).

5Archer to Jones, May 11, 1911, Jones Papers (H-1).



Exploitation was further hindered by the lack of roads.
Before 1920, there were no wagon roads or railroads on the
reservation and communications were limited to forest trails.
Even these trails, Nicholson noted, "have mostly been neglected
and are now obstructed by brush growth and windfalls."6 Indians
residing in Tahola at the mouth of the Quinault River; then the
location of the Indian agency, used the beach to reach Moclips,
south of the reservation boundary, where the tracks of the
Northern Pacific Railgégétoffered access to the outside world.’
By 1920, though, the reservation was on the verge of being

opened up and loggers would soon be at work in the vast Quinault

forests.

' 6Nicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
November 24, 1930, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-4).

7Archer to Jones, May 11, 1911, Jones Papers (H-1).
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ONE

ALLOTMENT WORK ON THE QUINAULT

The Quinault Indian Reservation originated from and
developed under a series of federal treaties, regulations and
legislative acts. In the treaty of 1855 and 1856, mandated
by Governor Isaac Stevens of Washington Territory, the Quinaults
ceded their lands to the United States government. Subse-
quently, an executive order issued by President Ulysses S.

Grant in 1873 established the reservation for the use of the
Quinault, Quillayute, Hoh and other tribes of 'fish eating"

Indians of the coastal region.; Some years passed before federal

g er

had 2

land use policies were adopted for Indian reservations. #&md
. L\' "\ [(um“{' A\
ﬁ&blcally for the ¥%h century, when Congress adopted a land

policy, 1t saw land either as agricultural or non-agricultural.

Congress had recognized mineral lands, but forest lands were

considered uncleared agricultural land. This restricted view
¢upesr d

of land use casueéd serious problems for some timbered reser-

vations like the Quinault.

1 &

On Stevens, see Kent Richards, "Isaac I. Stevens and
Federal Military Power in Washington Territory," Pacific
Northwest Quarterly, LXIII(July 1972), 81-86 (H-5).




The General Allotment( or Dawes§ Act of 1887 provided
for the granting of 80 or 160 acre allotments to individual
Indians for the purposes of agriculture or grazing. After the

b oty - ik . , ,
passage of ®& years, allottees would recelve title to their
land. (Legislation in 1906 provided for a waiver of this
waiting period if an allottee was adjudged "competent" to
handle his or her own affairs.) The goal of the Dawes Act
was to "civilize" the Indians by drawing them away from their
traditional culture and making them farmers. In the process,
the dependence of the Indians on the federal government would
be enced and they would be assimilated into white culture.
Also, much Indian land would be made available to white settlers,
a point emphasized with favor by Governor Eugene Semple of
Washington Territory at the time the Dawes Act was adopted.9

The capacity of the Quinaulte to make the desired
transition did not impress white observers. "In point of

intelligence," one writer noted, "they do not compare favorably

2 Paul W. Gates, History of Public Land Law Develop-
ment (Washington, D.C., 1968), 484 (H-161); Alan Hynding,
The Public Life of Eugene Semple: Promoter and Politician
of the Pacific Northwest (Seattle, 1973), 77-78 (H-162).
Indian lands not allotted were to be made available for
purchase by whites. This provision, combined with the
granting of fee patents, often meant that large portions of
reservation land passed into white ownership. See Ross R.
Cotroneo and Jack Dogzier, "A Time of Disintegration: The
Coeur d'Alene and the Dawes Act," Western Historical Quarterly,
V(October 1974), 405-419 (H-163). By 1934, Indian landholdings
had fallen from 138 million acres to 48 million acres. Randolph
C. Downes, "A Crusade for Indian Reform, 1922-1934," Mississippi
Valley Historical Review, XXXII(December 1945), 332 (H-168L4).




with other tribes of Washington Territory. They are indolent,
uncleanly, wanting in ambition, and for the most part unable
to understand any enterprise that would benefit them financially.
They are not satisfied to look forward to a crop in the fall as
a result of sowing in the spring—time."lo The Dawes Act was
meant to inculcate such an appreciation in the minds of Indians
who had subsisted for centuries on fishing.

The granting of allotments to members of thé Quinault
tribe was authorized in 1905. Members of the Quillayute, Hoh).
and Ozette tribes were included in 1911)and the Bureau of
Indian Affairs was further authorized in 1913 to grant reser-
vation lands to Clallam, Cowlitz)and Squaxon Indians.t! The
carrying out of the allotment process on the reservation,
however, pfoved to be tedious and ultimately based on fallacious
theory.

Allotment work on the Quinault was slow and expensive.
"The conditions or obstacles encountered in making allotments

"

in this part of Western Washington," allotting agent Finch

Archer observed, "beggars description. To know and understand

1OC. Willoughby, Indians of the Quinaielt Agency,
Washington Territory (Washington, D.C., 1889), 267 (H-165).

11Archer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, December
11, 1912, Jones Papers (H-6); C. J. Hawke to Jones, March 13,
1913, Jones Papers (H-7).




the Quinaielt country, one must go there."12 Roads had to

be constructed to allow the surveying and making of allotment
boundaries. "These roadways have first to be slashed," Archer
noted, "the logs and brush removed, and--owing to the heavy
rainfall, stringers cut and placed on the ground, then planked
with corduroy, and the planks spiked down to the stringers."
And bridges had to be built across the numerous reservation
streams. "Very often," continued Archer, "these watercourses,
after but a few hours of heavy rainfall, become swollen torrents,
carrying away briages and portions of the planked roads, thus
necessitating re-construction of parts of these roads several
times during the year."13 The strain on men, pack animals and
equipment was severe.

The work could also be dangerous., On one occasion in
early 1912, Archer, B.I.A. officials Charles Bates and Solomon
Metcalf and two Indian guides were traveling down the Quinault
River when their canoe capsized. "Metcalf caught a snag in
the river," according to a newspaper account, "while Archer
and one Indian reach[eg7 the closest bank and the ofher Indian
the other shore. Archer saw in the distance another jam and
knew unless some one rescued Bates ZWho could not swim and was

clinging to the overturned canoe/, he would be drowned, as the

12Archer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, December
11, 1912, Jones Papers (H-6).

13Archer to Jones, May 11, 1911, Jones Papers (H-1).



swift water would carry him under the logs. He called to the
Indian on the opposite bank to save Bates, and the native
quickly started down the bank and by a stroke of luck caught
the canoe in the bend of the river, as it swung towards shore,
and hauled Bates ashore;" In the meantime, Archer had rescued
Metcalf "by means of a long alder pole.'”14 |

Despite such hazards, the laying out of the gllotments
went forward’and the Indians began to receive theirdAﬁtgé;e
portions, thé latter having been designatea as "the proper
number of acres for allotment purposes on the Quinalelt reser-
vation."15 The government made little or no effort to determine
the eligibility of potential allottees. "The percentage of
Indian blood has no bearing," Assistant Commissioner of Indian
Affairs C. F. Hawke pointed out in 1912, "enrollment with the
tribes having rights on the reservation being the sole pre-

requisite to allotment." The council of each tribe could

adopt new members)and although the Bureau had the right to void

such decisions it rarely did so. "The wishes of the Indians

expressed in council," Hawke noted, "have always received due

consideration.”" None of the enrolled tribes was to receive

14Newspaper clipping, Jones Papers (H-9). Senator
Wesley Jones of Washington observed that the incident "shows
the wisdom of the officials here in selecting men who can
take care of themselves in our mountain streams as well as to
blaze and hold trails through the forest." Jones to Archer,
February 20, 1912, Jones Papers (H-10).

15Charles H. Burke to Jones, August 15, 1928, Jones
Papers (H-11).



speclal treatment in the distribution of allotments, but "any
Indian who has erected improvements on a particular piece of
land or otherwise used it, would be entitled to select the

tract as his allotment."16

Allotment agent Archer stressed the government's desire
to make farmers out of the Indians when 1t came to the actual
granting of land. Although the reservation was heavily timbered,
he contended that it possessed great potential for agriculture.
"The soil along the river bottoms," Archer observed, "is of a
rich alluvial character or silty deposit, on the upper lands
those of an agricultural character are a black beaver mold or
loam and are excellent when cleared for farming purposes."

Where cultivation had been attempted, Archer found that "the
soil shows extraordinary fertility." Two-thirds of the reser-
vation, he concluded, was "specially fitted for agricultural
purposes” and could be so utilized once the timber, which to

him was an extraneous feature, was removed. A sixth of the
reservation, moreover, was adaptable for grazing.17

Indians were discouraged from choosing allotments on
land not suitable for such usage. "They were mostly given
lands that were at least in part suitable for agriculturél

purposes,”" Commissioner of Indian Affairs Charles H. Burke

16Hawke to Jones, March 8, 1912, Jones Papers (H-12).

17Archer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, December
11, 1912, Jones Papers (H-6).
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wrote in 1928, "and we are advised that the Allotting Agent
declined to allot the heavily timbered lands during the first
years of his work."18 Should an Indian select land, noted
Archer, that was "found to be more valuable for the timber
thereon than for agriculture, the applicant was so informed,
and was allowed to make other selections until satisfactory
acreage was gotten."19 Most of these early allotments went to
Indians living in Tahola and nearby areas, resulting in con-
siderable complaints when allotments more heavily timbered were
later given to persons living off the reservation.zo
Each Indian was allowed to choose hié or her own
allotment, which could be selected from any portion of the
reservation. Archer claimed that "every effort was made”" to
show allottees their selections "so that there could exist no
reasonable grounds for future misunderstanding." Only about
20 peg:bent of the Indians, however, had taken the trouble to
personally visit their allotments. Still, Archer believed that
he was making progress in his efforts to lead the Indians

toward an understanding of the benfits of farming.21

18Burke to Jones, August 15, 1928, Jones Papers (H- H)

19Archer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, December
11, 1912, Jones Papers (H-6).

2OBurke to Jones, August 15, 1928, Jones Papers (H—li>

=S .

21Archer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, December
11, 1912, Jones Papers (H-6).
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J. P. Kinney, Bureau of Indian Affairs forest direcfor,
visited the reservation for the first time in 1910 and was
appalled at Archer's literal application of the Dawes Act
philosophy. "Heavily timbered lands that appeared to be poorly
adapted to any agricultural use," Kinney later recalled, "were
being allotted."22 Archer, Kinney remembered on another
occasion, was "alloting timber that would ruﬁ anywhere from
twelve to thirty thousand board feet to the acre; the land
was not fit for agriculture and never would be."23 The Dawes
Act did not specifically provide for allotment of lands unsuited
for farming or grazing, Kinney noted. But "because of the
cupidity of the Indians and mistaken ideas on the part of

alloting agents, timbered allotments have in many instances
24

been assigned."

Returning to the nation's capital, Kinney "presented
my views as to the impropriety of allotting lands of this
character."25 It made no sense at all to handle timberland

Haefs

oy .
as ¥ 1t was destined to be farmland, to overlook the wvalue of
A

227, P. Kinney to William B. Greeley, April 3, 1929,
Merrill & Ring Lumber Company Papers, Manuscripts Collection,
University of Washington Library (H-13).

23J. P. Kinney with Elwood R. Maunder and George T.

Morgan, Jr., "An Oral History Interview: 'Beginning Indian
Lands Forestry,'" Forest History, XV(July 1971), 13 (H-166).
24 o

J. P. Kinney, "Forestry e® Indian Reservations,"
Forestry Quarterly, X(September 1912), 471-472 (H-167).

25Kinney to Greeley, April 3, 1929, Merrill & Ring
Lumber Company Papers (H-13).
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the present resource in anticipation of a future resource
not really suited to the reservation. The problem was to

administer "these lands in such manner as to fully maintain
t

[ L g

their value as rne¥ternal resources without impairing the private
property interests of the owners and without interfering with
the very important task of developing habits of industry and
economic independence among the Indians."26 His views were
"repeatedly presented," Kinney recalled. "Eventually others
took the same position andAtheballotting work was discontinued."27
Allotment of land on the reservation came to an end in 1914,
despite Archer's insistence that it wai(%gfair to those
Indians who had yet to receive theirtéﬁygg}es.ZB

Archer had argued that the reservation was well-suited
for farming, "assuming the timber to be removed therefrom,"%?
But that was a rather large assumption, consildering the dense
forest that covered the reservation and the fact that the

climate inhibited the use of cleared land for agriculture or

26J. P. Kinney, "Forestry Administration on Indian
Reservations, " Journal of Forestry, XIX(December 1921), 836
(H-168),

27Kinney to Greeley, April 3, 1929, Merrill & Ring
Lumber Company Papers (H-13).

28
11, 1912,

Archer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, December
Jones Papers (H-0). Aottt

c

29Archer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, December
11, 1912, Jones Papers (H-6).
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grazing. "It 1is very difficult to keep cleared lands fit for

pasture," N. 0. Nicholson pointed out in 1930, "as they revert
Lw]

easily and rapidly to brak%‘ferns and inedible brush and

eventually to timber land."jo The Quinault Reservation was not

a farm but a forest, and, Nicholson stressed, "the land .

has no real value for any other purpose."31 |
Those individuals acquainted with forestry recognized

that the allotment system was incompatible with the best usage

of the reservation's resources. William B, Greeley, former

chfdostr

keed of the Forest Service, observed in 1929 that "individual

allotments have practically the same status as private holdings

within the reservation." They could well prevent, Greeley

believed, the "orderly utilization of Indian Reservation timber

land as a whole in line with the most desirable economic policy."32

J. P. Kinney was convinced that "the completion of allotments

to the Indlans on a reservation often does not satisfy the

economic needs of the group as to land ownership."33

The decision to drop the allotment work was thus a practical

step, one that would limit the damage done by Archer's

3%Nicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
November 24, 1930, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-4).

31Nicholson'to E. Morgan Price, December 31, 1930,
Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-14).

32Greeley to R. D. Merrill, April 8, 1929, Merrill &
Ring Lumber Company Papers (H-15).

33Kinney, "Forestry Administration on Indian
Reservations," 843 (H-168).
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B.I.A. officials, moreover,

enthusiastic but misguided efforts.

believed that their decision did not violate the Dawes Act..jLL
"The law under which the land suitable for grazing or agri-
cultural purposes was allotted," Assistant Commissioner E. B.

Merritt argued, "does not specifically provide for the allotment

of the timber land." Since "all the land suitable for grazing

or agricultural purposes has been disposed of," further allot-

td not 1%
ment%«need aoﬁhbe made.

develop new policies forﬂQuinault, policies to meet requirements

35 The problem facing the B.I.A. was to

not envisioned by the drafters of the Dawes Act.

In order to devise and apply such policies it was
necessary to know how much timber was on the reservation.
The work of cruising and preparing a topographic map began in
1915, the results of which, Kinney recalled, "we hoped to use
as a basis for future forestry work on the Quinaielt."36 The

survey work, Kinney wrote, contemplated "the making of a fairly

accurate estimate of the timber on each forty-acre tract, the

67) 3Ll'}{inney, "Forestry on Indian Reservations," 471 (H-
167).

35E. B. Merritt to Jones, May 15, 1915, Jones Papers
(H-16). Writing in 1927, Indian Commissioner Burke noted an
additional practical objection to the allotment of timberland:
"Data on hand showed that it would be impossible to allot the
lands in such a manner as to give each eligible Indian an
allotment containing timber of an approximate equal value. It
was realized that one Indian would receive land with valuable
timber on it, while some other Indian would be compelled %o
receive an allotment of little or no timber wvalue." Burke to
Miller, Wilkinson and Miller, June 10, 1927, Tahola Indian

Agency Records (H-17).

36Kinney to Greeley, April 3, 1929, Merrill & Ring
Lumber Company Papers (H-13).
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acquisition of reliable information as to the character of
soil on each forty and the gathering of data for an accurate
contour map of each reservation examined."37 The cruise was
completed in 1917. Unfortunately, i1ts accuracy soon became a
matter of some controversy.
The cruise drastically underestimated the timber on
some allotments. Quinault orest.ﬂupervisor Henry B. Steer
recoééd fwo such instances in 1923, related to him by W. G.
Peebles of the Polson Logging Company. On one allotment, the
government cruise had shown "practically no timber," or some {uuuq -
Fo. 4 thousanéﬁ?ggt of cedar and pine. Yet, Steer noted, "Mr.
Peebles informed me that he found in excess of one million feet
of cedar on the South one half of this allotment." The govern-
ment cruiser had also found a small amount of timber on the
second allotment. "While Mr. Peebles did not give me the
definite amount of timMber which he found on this allotment, he
did state that it was very much in excess of this Government
cruise."38
In other instances the government figures overestimated

the timber. B. J. Wooster of the Aloha Lumber Company pointed

out that the report of his company's cruiser was "in every

37Kirmey, "Forestry Administration on Indian
Reservations," 838-839 (H-168).

38Henry B. Steer to W. B. Sams, February 20, 1923,
Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-18).
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instance but one . . . underrunning the Government cruise.
. This unit being cruised by Mr. McCutcheon shows approximately
one-half the Government cruise." A man named Bidwell, who had
worked on the 1915-1917 project, told Wooster that "he would
consider the Government figures approximately a close guess,
but nothing more."39 Paul Smith of the M. R. Smith Lumber
Company agreed with Wooster's assessmeht. His own cruise of
two allotments purchased in 1920, he commented, "will average
40% less than the reservation cruise.”“o
The discrepancies resulted from the methods used by
the Bureau of Indian Affairs in its cruise., "We used what is
called the strip system, the inaccuracies of which are well
known," Steer recalled. "A 'commercial' cruiser covers the
ground a great deal more thoroughly than did the man who used
the strip system for the government."q'1 Crulser Bidwell had
stated, Wooster wrote, "that he knows of instances, particularly
L penn -7

where a MOAwas generally looked at from the top of a ridge, the

next 40 being approximated as containing less or more than that

39B. J. Wooster to M. R. Smith Lumber & Shingle Co.
September 30, 1920, Aloha Lumber Company Papers, Manuscrlpts
Collection, University of Washington Library (H-19).

“OPaul Smith to Wooster, October 8, 1920, Aloha
Lumber Company Papers (H-20).

ulSteer to Sams, February 20, 1923, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-18).
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just looked at."42 The government cruise, it was clear, was
at best an approximation for the reservation as a whole and a
basically unreliable guide to the resources of the individual
allotments.

This fact was not regarded with any great concern by
either the B.I.A. or the private lumbermen. Crulse reports
were usually regarded in the lumber industry as estimates and
the person or organization making the cruise was no%:%gable for

its accuracy. "It wasn't the policy to estimate the timber

stand on various allotments as a 100% estimate," Quinault
superintendent George La Vatta pointed out in the mid-1940s.

As long as the ultimate sale price was based on a recruise or

scale of logs cut, there was "no cause for alarm."43 Kinney

42Wooster_to Smith Lumber Co., September 30, 1920,
Aloha Lumber Company Papers (H-19). "The strip system is
used," J. P. Kinney wrote, "two strips, each two chains wide
being run through each forty, except where the stand of timber
is both light and uniform and the surface practically level,
where a single strip two chains wide may be run. Base lines
are first run two miles apart and the stations (two for each
forty) marked, and all elevations carefully recorded. The
cruise strips are then run through the forties at right angles |
to the base lines from station to station. Box compasses with
two and one-half needles are found satisfactory and distance
are /sic/ determined by a two-chain steel tape. Differences '
in elevation along cruise strips are determined by a six-inch
Abney hand level graduated to read differences in per cent of ' |
a slope. The topographic compassmen do not attempt to draw /
accurate contour lines 1n the field but aim to represent the |
surface accurately by form lines and the location of the
contours is determined by the draftsmen from the Abney readings
as corrected by the transit station elevations." Kinney, [
"Forestry Administration on Indian Reservations," 839 (H-168).

43George P. La Vatta to August Cloquet, October 31, ,
1946, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-21).
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maintained that "the timber estimates . . . are sufficiently

accurate for all sales in whibh the amount actually cut is the

basis for payment."uu The final price was determined by factors

other than the 1915-1917 cruise, and thus its unreliability

seemed not to be a great(hazard. Noting the divergent figures,

B. J. Wooster observed that "in the long run, it might not make
L5

any difference."” e —
Still, there were some potential problemsf§éuch as
lack of confidence in the ability of the Indians to understand

the 81gn1flcance of technical 1nformat10g/)that had to be ™

Q\Euarded agalnstlf A number of Indians were requesting the
cruise flgures for their allotments, requests which the B.I.A.
officials were reluctant to meet. "While a white man of
intelligence, and rarely an Indian, may understand that the
estimate of his timber is an approximation only," Steer argued,
"and that the actual scale of timber cut from a certain description
of land may either over or under run an esfimate, the majority
of Indians, when they have in their possession the government
cruise of their timber will believe, if the actual amount of
timber cut from their allotment is less than the estimated

amount, that they have been defrauded, and no amount of

uuKirmey, "Forestry Administration on Indian
Reservations,” 839 (H-168).

u5Wooster to Smith Lumber Co., September 30, 1920,
Aloha Lumber Company Papers (H-19).
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explanation will change their opinion."l’L6
Other problems involved the income received by allottees
for their timber. Lumbermen purchasing timber from Indians
holding fee patents offered prices based upon thelr opinion
y/ﬁfzf of the cruise's accuracy. "It does appear to us very dangerous,"
& 7 observed Wooster, "to pay on anywhere near full stumpage value
gﬁg&p based on the Government cruise."u7 Paul Smith, keeping in
mind that his own cruises revealed a 40 peﬁ:bent government
overrun, promised to "make my offers accordingly in any cases
where I make an offer without having a reliable cruiser
examine the allotment first."u8 When applications for fee patents
were considered, E%rest.gupervisor Steer urged that "wherever
there is any question of doubt as to the stand of timber on the
same, that the application .'. . be delayed until the allotment
49 Altlursal wot o 30l foetiv

AX%e cruise, as we shall see,

had an impact on the size of the initial payments received by

in question can be recruised."”

YK:ﬁ

allottees when the B.I.A. began selling timber units in the

1920s. )
Mo earer y :
B the government cruise was designed to facilitate

uéSteer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, January
23, 1923, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-22).

u7Wooster to Smith Lumber Co., September 30, 1920;
Aloha Lumber Company Papers (H-19).

48Smith to Wooster, October 8, 1920, Aloha Lumber
Company Papers (H-20).

ZJ’9Steer to Sams, February 20, 1923, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-18).
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the management of unallotted Quinau%ﬁ‘fimber as tribal
property, not to guide the sale ofcggugé;e mini-forests. "It
was with this end in view that a substantial sum was expended
on the cruise and topographic map," Kinney pointed out.50 The
B.I.A. had adoptedva policy more in keeping with the reality
of the reservation thag:fﬁe theory behind the Dawes Act. That
policy, however, could not be implemented as envisioned by
Kiﬁney.

As Finch Archer had predicted, those Indians who had
not received land prior to the cessation of allotment work in
1914 felt that they had been cheated by the government. They
chafed under the efforts of the B.I.A. to treat*&uinault as an
exception to the Dawes Act. "Several Indians were dissatisfied
with the policy of conserving timber as a tribal asset," Com-
missioner Burke later observed, "and brought suit to compel the
allotting of the land, together with the timber thereon, to
individual Indians qualified to receive an allotment."51 A
case was brought in Tacoma federal court in the name of Tommy
Payne, a member of the Quillayute tribe, and in January 1922

Judge Edward Cushman ruled in Payne's favor. The Interior

Department, Cushman declared, could not refuse to grant allot-

‘ 5OKinney to Greeley, April 3, 1929, Merrill & Ring
Lumber Company Papers (H-13).

51Burke to Miller, et al., June 10, 1927, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-17). ,
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ments under its interpretation that the Dawes Act did not
authorize the allotting of(timberlands.

In April 1924 theéghpreme Court sustained Cushman's
decision and allotment work was resumed, creating, in Kinney's
view, "a condition which made a conservative management of the.
forest practically impossible." This observation was a reiteration
of his long-held view of the disadvantages of allotments én
the Quinault Reservation: "it was apparent that allotment was
the first step in the passing of the land into white ownership,
if it had any possibilities other than the growing of timber,
and thus allotment would almost certainly lead to a division of
title that would make the administration of all surrounding
forest land difficult." Further, Kinney.observed in 1929, "the
greater part of the timberland on the reservation" was allotted
as a result of the Payne case. This amounted, according to his
estimate, to more than two-thirds of the Quinault timber. He
believed that breaking the reservation into small tracts of
diverse ownership "would tend to depreciate the value of the
different logging units by destruction of compactness and an
increase in the development cost of each thousand feet of

timber available to the purchaser in the development cost of
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the timber that remalned in a restricted status. The court
decision prevented the worklng out of a national B.I.A. timber
policy and raised severe problems for the management of the
reservation, a situation that Burke contended "has been brought
about by the Indians themselves."53
The resumption of allotment work militated against
sound forestryfzggainst the practical policies devised by
Kinney and others to meet the particular circumstances: of the
Quinault Reservation. Rather than managing one forest, the
Bureau would have to manage a myriad of forests, with all that
development implied for efficient management. Once again a |
theory incompatible with reallfy haﬁLbeen raised up to
confront those who had the Seééléé$5aabéeus responsibility of
reconciling the former with the latter. The problems posed

by the allotment system would become even more clear as full-

scale exploitation of Quinault timber got underway in the EAWlﬁ t4 205,

52 Kinney to Greeley, April 3, 1929, Merrill & Ring
Lumber Company Papers (H-13); J. P. Kinney, Indian Forest and
Range: A History of the Administration and Conservation of
The Redman's Heritage (Washington, D.C., 1950), 241-242 (H-
169); J. P. Kinney, A Continent Lost--A ClVlllzatlon Won:
Ind;an Land Tenures in America (Baltimore, 1937), 268 (H-
170

53Burke to Miller, et al., June 10, 1927, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-17). The impact of the decision,

Kinney later recalled, "was very disastrous."” Kinney with
Maunder and Morgan, "'Beginning Indian Lands Forestry,'" 13
(H-166). "These lands," the Commissioner of Indian Affairs

reported, "are generally entirely unfitted for agricultural
use and the only means by which the allottees can secure any
benefit from the allotments consists in the sale of timber."
U.S. Department of Interior, Annual Report of the Commissioner
Of Indian Affairs, 1929, 13 (H-171).
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THE NINETEEN-TWENTIES

The Quinault Indian Reservation occupied a significant
portion of the four million acres on the Olympic Peninsula,
and the Peninsula was, by the twenties, one of the laé -great

wa bt Sht .

unutilized stands of timber in thebYrited—States. Its opening
up promised to benefit many people and interests, from loggers
to all those residents of Washington dependent in some fashion
on the timber industry. The industry acco%nted for two-thirds
of the state's payroll and tax collectionsrgg/ Washington was
the largest lumber producer in the nation, a position it had
held since the turn of the century. Within the state, Grays
Harbor was the leading county in terms of lumber output and
value of standing timber. The lumber industry provided two-

.
thirds of the county's tax revenueuﬁs Harbor lumbermen looked

howsir®. north to the reservation for the raw material that would

'
Memorandum of the Timber Situation in the State of
Washington Submitted to Vice-President Charles G. Dawes by
Governor Roland H. Hartley, 1925, Roland H. Hartley Papers,
Washington State Archives, Olympia (H-23).

156%amphlet, Victor H. Beckman, "Value of Western
Washington's Lumber Industry," 3-5, copy in Hartley Papers
(H-24), ' .
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allow them to maintain this position.
Thé 1920s were dominated by Republican administrations

in the nation's capital, administrations whose pro-business

‘philosophy was reflected throughout the federal bureaucracy,

inciuding the B.I.A. Warren Harding had promised a return to
normalcy in the campaign of 1920, a retreat from the idealism
and the allegedly stifling bureaucracy of the Wilson Administra-
tion. Calvin Coolidge was supposed to have said that the

business of America was business, a statement that while perhaps

apocryphal symbolized the spirit of the times. The-—gevernment

di-sposed—ofsurplus-—-ships—and--other-wa¥--supplties gs Tapidly as
possib%evwwIneemewtaxmraxes¢wespeciakkywiﬁwthevaper”bratkétgv“-
were--sharply--reduced.- One of the great political battles of the
decade revolved around the government's attempt to sell its dam
and nitrate plant at Muscle Shoals, Alabama, facilities ﬁhat
later formed the nucleus of the Tennessee Valley Authority. The
dominant view that the duty of the government was to encourage
business through cooperative programs was reflected as well in

the timber management policies of the Bureau of Indian Affairs.56

For all practical purposes, noted the B.I.A. forest

report for 1925, "the only forestry activity on the Quinaielt

56Indians were not ignored when it came to the scandals
perpetrated by some members of the Harding Administration.
Interior Secretary Albert Fall, better known for his involvement
in the Teapot Dome affair, engaged in an effort to extinguish
Indian land titles in New Mexico. See Kenneth Philp, "Albert B.
Fall and the Protest from the Pueblos, 1921-23," Arizona and the
West, XII (Autumn 1970), 237-254 (H-172). BAn excellent example
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of thzs cooperative phllosophy is the Clarke-McNary Act of 1924
(43 Stat 653), which reflected a rejection of federal regulation
of logging on private lands in favor of cooperative programs.

For a full treatment of Clarke-McNary Act, see Harold K. Steen,
The U.S. Forest Service: A History (Seattle: University of

Washington Press, 1976), pp. 173-95. (H-8 )
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is timber sale administration. i e decision to sell large
: n ﬁ\/M/-\ M/E?l

blocks of reservation timber r sgltedAfrom the deficiencies

of the allotment system. Immediately following the completion

Y g

of the 1915-1917 cruise, a 1g§§;—;ﬁmb$} of fee patents had

been issued south of the Quinaﬁlt River and in the vicinity

of Lake QuinaultﬁD "Presently," J. P. Kinney recalled, "the

Indians having fee patents began to dispose of their holdings

at very low prices and to save the values that we thought

should be realized for restricted allotments, several blocks

of timber south of the Quinaielt River and one large unit north

of it (Quinaielt Lake Unit) were offered for sale."58
Kinney believed that sales were "premature" in the

case of Qﬁinault Lake because of the large amount of pulp

material in that region,Amaterial #=x¥ could not be utilized

by the Northwest pulp industry, then in its infancy, until

at least the mid-1930s. "Because of the allotments," though,

"it appeared that the realizations from early sales would be

greater than those that would be obtained through a delay of

sales until the pulp industry could be developed in the Grays

Harbor region." Kinney pointed out that a great many of the

57Annua1 Forest Report, Fiscal Year 1925, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-3).

58Kinney to Greeley, April 3, 1929, Merrill & Ring
Lumber Company Papers (H-13).
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allottees were "advanced in years or for other reasons had need

of immediate financial assistance." The B.I.A. was duty-bouﬁd

to look out for the welfare of tribal members -and for this

reason, stated Kinney, "it seemed necessary that prompt action

be taken; irrespective of the theories that I, or others, might

have as to the economic desirability from a national standpoint

that sales awalt the development of the pulp industry."59 The

Indianlpémmissioner reported that the sales were made in order

"to meet the urgent requests of allottees . . . that they be

permitted to realize funds from the timber on their allotments.”6o

The high lumber prices of post-World War I years, moreover,

and the clamor of lumbermen for Quinault stumpage indicated

that the times were right for the sale of reservation timber.61
The sale of timber in large units, rather than

allotment by allotment, had a number of advantages. Such

sales would partizally obviate the problems caused by the

allotment system, allowing for more efficient management.

Much of the land south of the Quinault River had been allotted

by 1914, and the threat of litigation culminating in the

Payne case promised to reopen the remainder of the reservation

to allotment. The combining of allotments into timber units

59Ibid.

60U.S. Department of Interior, Report of the
Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 1922, 19 (H-173).

61Kinney to Greeley, April 3, 1929, Merrill & Ring
Lumber Company Papers (H-13). :
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would also bring greater financial return to the allottees.
"This is because all your timber would be scaled by government
men," forester Henry Steer pointed out to one allottee, "and
you would get credit for all the timber which actually stood
on your claim.”62 Those Indians holding fee patents and selling
their timber would have to rely on the dubious results of the
1915-1917 government cruise unless they wished to%;;y)for a
private recruise of their allotments.

The record of such large sales, Steer reported in
1927, "show that the financial return to individual allottees
who sold their allotments, both land and timber, prior to the
selling of large timber units (which sell the timber only) has
been from 10 to 25% of the amount realized for timber only

e adlieaa b

under the policy of selling the timber in 1arge,b}oqks."63
4X beneficial

The sale of large units would also be financial

to the government, as a portion of the sales price received by

allottees would be turned over to the B.I.A. to finance admini-
R (T PO (S

stration%h (Fndians—gettime—theirown—tinber-apparentiy-did—ret-

Lkwddwl j}%§¥e~taamake—an T strative-payment—to-—thregovEriieEntsy- " The

\(V’Q

Quinaielt Reservation was . . . allotted, cruised and mapped at

~a large expense to the United States," Steer contended. "I

think it no more than fair that sales of this kind should be

628teer to Mrs. W. L. Montgomery, February 20, 1923,
Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-23).

63Steer to Henry R. Cloud, February 5, 1927, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-26).



29

made through this office in order that the allottees may-be
called upon to defray a part of the expenses of this work."

The "greater price" received by the allottees would more than

make up for this requizement.él1L
Nll\,.‘-
. Lumbermen werdkd have to pay higher prices for stumpage,
ff‘{»vau.uw}a Wl lon .:[ i, actr G '

but theg_wnu&é+g§3§rin more efficient exploitation—of the
C ““u'&"} :

reservationA Logging operations, reguiring the construction of
railroads, were very expensive. "The Quinaielf Reservation is
very heavily timbered," Steer reminded the/ﬂ%mmissioner of
Indian Affairs, "and presents . . . peculiar problems from the
standpoint of a logging concern principally because of the great
amount of railroad that must be built to advantageously log the
timber."65 The allotment system and especlally the fee patents
made it very difficult to obtain rights-of-way for the con-
struction of railroads, rights-of-way without which loggers
could not reach timber purchased on individual allotments.

Sale of large units would greatly reduce this rather serious
hindrance to the mounting of logging operations. Anticipating
the purchase of such units, many owners of the larger companies
ceased to be interested in the acquisition of timber from

Indians holding fee patents, another negative effect of the

648teer to Sams, June 1, 1923, Tahola Indian Agency
Records (H-27).

65Steer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, October
2, 1928, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-28),
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allotment process on the Indians. Paul Smith wrote that
when Indians offered to sell "allotments adjoin[fng7 allot-
ments we own. . . . I believe I should make them a bluff offer
for appearance sake."66
B.1.A, officials were convinced that the sale of

timber in large units was the best course to follow. "The
prices which are obtained for Indian timber when such timber
is sold under government supervision in units," Steer main-
tained, "is mostly in excess of the price that can be obtained
by the Indian for land and timber by an outright sale through
the issuance of a fee patent." Steer continued that he was
"convinced, and can very easily prove that hundreds of thousands
of dollars have been lost by Quinaielt Indians in recent years
through the issuance of fee patents and the sale of heav

Tlss |, of Connpe ) hon bten a priblon. (o nomins it suwmed ﬂb' LJ% LA,

imbered allotments for a fraction of their value. A For this

reason, officials at the Quinault agency office in Hoquiam

would in the future approve applications for fee patents "only

668mith to Aloha Lumber Co., September 27, 1920,
Aloha Lumber Company Papers (H-29). B. J. Wooster observed
that "when a fee patent is issued . . . our taxes, interest

(g vt A

" and holding charges immediately start, all of which together

with possible wind and fire damage make it of less value than
when paid for at the rate of a ten percent down payment and
the remainder as logged and only for what timber the claims
actually produce." Wooster to Sams, September 22, 1921, Aloha
Lumber Company Papers (H-30).
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in instances of extreme need."
"Such a policy," Steer realized, "will unquestionably
be against the yishes of some allottees of mixed blood who
have never lived on the Reservation and who give no thought
to the best interests of the tribe."68 These allottees "have
never been under the care of a Superintendent" and would "chafe
at any government restriction of their funds."69 Actuaily,
the mosf vocal opposition to the new policy and to fhe
restriction on fee patents seemed to come from some Quinault
leaders resident at Tahola.
William Mason, a Quinault chief, hired Hoquiam attorney
L. H. Brewer to represent him‘in an effort to secure fee patents,
and Brewer in turn lobbied Senator Wesley Jones of Washington,
a member of the Indian Affairs Committee, to bring pressure on

the B.I.A. in the hation's capital. Brewer contended that the

67S’ceer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, December
26, 1922, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-31). Allottees had
been able to receive fee patent if they were judged to be
"competent" by the‘Secretary of the Interior. "Yet," two
historians have noted, "no attempt was made to define just
what constituted competency. It could mean that the Indian
was a Christian, that he could write his name, that he wore
white man's clothing, that he wore his hair short, and so
forth. ZEach individual agent apparently had his own peculiar

method of determining competency, and . . . the,Sécretary of
the #nterior rarely disregarded such recommendations." Cotroneo
and Dozier, "A Time of Disintegration," 415 (H-163).

68

Steer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, October
2, 1928, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-28).

69Steer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, December
26, 1922, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-31).
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Bureau desired to "sell to some rich men in a great body
all of this land, and they in turn will 1og it and make several
hundred thousand or million dollars from the operation, while
the poor old Indian will lie rotting in his grave, having gone
through 1life with scant rainment and with a hungry stomach
many, many times when he could just as well have been kept in
good clothing, kept and cared for in a good house and fed good
70 . 3u¢p@ﬁ< .
food." Jones, 1in turn, &e%ected a bureaucratic urge to sur-
vival behind the refusal to grant fee patents. "If the Indians
were allowed to handle their lands themselves there wouldn't
be anything for the Indian Office to do and a lot of fellows
would be witﬁout jobs and so, under the pretense of looking out
for the Indians they are looking out for Jchemselves."?1
Mason and a few allottee supporters continued to fight
for control of their land into the early 1920s, refusing to‘
allow inclusion of their allotments id?%he sales units and,
contended Steer, "spreading malicious propaganda among other
Indians . . . /and/ making many mis-statements which rendered
our work . . . more difficult to accomplish."72 Another

Hoquiam lawyer, F. L. Morgan, was hired to represent the pro-

testers at a fee of $6,000 a year for three years. Indian

7OL. H. Brewer to Jones, December 1, 1917, Jones
Papers (H-32).

71Jones to Brewer, February 20, 1918, Jones Papers
(H-33) .

72Steer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, December
26, 1922, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-31).
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Commissioner Burke refused, under Interior Department regu-
lations, to approve this contract, contending that do so "would
establish a precedent that would be followed by a class‘of

lawyers throughout the country that do not represent the best
element of the profession."73 A number of allottees continued

to protest the timber sales. Throughout the decade, the B.I.A.

had to cope with what superintendent W. B. Sams called "agi-
tatofs," persons who, according to Steer, insisted that "employees
of this Agency were in collusion with the timber companies to

defraud the Indians."74

Collusion, at least among the timber companies, seemed

apparent to some observers. When in 1929 only four bids were
made on four different units and each at the minimum price,

‘this seemed to be no mere coincidence. Protests to the/gecretary
of the,therior that improper circumstances of the sales had
reduced the Indians' income were sufficient to cause him to

75

reject all bids and to order deposits returned to the companies.

st

Five large units of timber were sold between 1920 and

1923, The Moclips Unit, along the southern boundary of the

( 73Burke to Jones, September 29, 1922, Jones Papers
H-34) .

748ams to pbmmissioner of Indian Affairs, June 18,
1929, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-35); Steer to Commis-
sioner of Indian Affairs, June 18, 1929, Tahola Indian Agency
Records (H-36).

75Kinney, Indian Forest and Range, 175-176 (H-169).
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reservation, was purchased by the Aloha Lumber Company in

1920, although bad weather delayed the beginning of logging
until the following year.76 In 1922, Point Grenville, to the
north of Moclips on the coast, was acquired by the M. R. Smith
Lumber Companx)and the Hobi Lumber Company purchased the Cook
Creek Unit on the reservation's eastern boundary. The following
year, Aloha added the Mounts Unit along the Quinault River fo
its holdings. In that year also, the Quinault Lake Unit, the
only sale made north of the river, was sold to the Ozette
Railway Company, a subsidiary of the Polson Logging Company.
The‘prices obtained for this last unit, $5 per thousand feet

for Douglas fir and $3 for hemlock, "were record prices for that
region."77 One and a quarter billion of the five billion feet
of timber on the reservation had been put under contract.78
By 1927, 375 million feet of timber with a value of $1.08
million had been cut on the five units.79

Solicitation of bids for these units had been carried

out through notices placed in newspapers and lumber industry

76Wooster to Smith Lumber Co., November 2, 1920,
Aloha Lumber Company Papers (H-37).

77U.S. Department of Interior, Report of the Commis-
sioner of Indian Affairs, 1923, 19 (H-17L).

78Steer to Charles E. Coe, March 7, 1923, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-38).

798teer to Cloud, February 5, 1927, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-26).
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trade publications. The outcome of the bidding process, how-
ever, was in part preordained by economic forces and cooperation
among prospective purchasers. The money required.to purchase
and exploit large tracts of timber excluded small loggers

from the competition and a. number of the large operators
arranged their bids among themselves. Aloha's Wooster informed
Paul Smith of the Smith Lumber Company in early 1922 that "I
had a talk with Morley of the Saginaw Timber Company . . . and
flatly asked him if he was interested in the Point Grenville
Unit and he stated he had been . . . but that he had sent a man
into the Wreck Creek district and that it didn't look good to
him and that he Was not going to bid on it. If hé isn't a

liar that eliminates him." Morley and the §§§§;$§;} Brothers
Logging Company "evidently . . . are not figuring together as
we had though?f and Smith need not worry about competition for

the Grenville Unit.8o

Wooster and Smith worked closely together with respect
to reservation affairs, even considering whether "it might be
to our mutual advantage to pool our holdings on the Reser-

vation."81 In the case of the Quinault Lake Unit, the twb

80wooster to Smith, March 20, 1922, Aloha Lumber
Company Papers (H-39).

_ 81Wooster to Smith, November 2, 1920, Aloha Lumber
Company Papers (H-37).
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were convinced that "this should be Polsons" (Ozette) and
discouraged other companies from bidding. "Some opefators
have approached us on this," Wooster noted, "but we have not
talked favorable or offered any outlet through our Z?ail7
road."82 Reservation officials informed Wooster and Smith
about the interest expressed in Quinault timber by other
compahies. Referring to Point Grenville, Wooster informed
Smith that "Nicholson and(Steer both say that a good deal of
interest has been shown and that the office has been asked for
considerable information but as far as they know no one has
gone in to look th§ situation over other than Morley's men
and the Schaeffegégg;ty."83 Cooperation among the logging
companies undermined the intent of the bidding process (only
one bid each was offered on the Moclips and Point Grenville
units) and no doubt had an impact on sales prices and thus
on the income received by allottees.

That income was staggered over a period of years.
B.I.A. regulations prgyided for a 10 peﬁzﬁent advance payment
to allottees within.gé'gays of the signing of the logging
céntract. (Within each sales unit the Indian timber owner

had to sign a power-of-attorney before his or her allotment

82Wooster to Smith, October 31, 1922, Aloha Lumber
Company Papers (H-41).

83yooster to Smith, March 20, 1922, Aloha Lumber

(2AA g4 /)‘u—> P g ]

£ 1 2
A m,%/,/(;},i(x,} # (e 7
\/"x \vfx"'



Bk v

N.,,,m,c,, . “,?1 W I, v bee o
Sl g Wwieéy l@ﬁfjmaﬁ;ﬂ
H ,W 6)4"1'(1«,', g")@"’) ’. CA VN ¢’ﬁ//‘bp &Yh’v
(9411 v Seead  (udndo, M(—\ £ ££“
{-*(-”w;—&"WS:swwM Y & LA prortn /7@%“
wm A ;



\.
e

«52;¥ 37

of could be logged.) Similar 10 peé:cent payments were made after

o

Giﬁﬂ> three and six years, and a 20 peﬁ:bent payment was made after
nine years if no timber had been cut. The remaining half was
paid when the allotment was logged, as determined by scale.
If the 1915-1917 cruise had overestimated the timber, the

/“; Zi:::>§}lottee might receive little or ho money at this final chaLge.8L'L

Administration of the sales was financed by an eight
peq:Eent deduction from the first three payments. This fee
was supposed to cover all costs and could be set, at the
’discretibn of the/Cgmmissioner of Indian Affairs, at a level

between five and 10 perﬁbent.85 Receipts from the fee were

depoz ited in the U.S. Treasury Unllke the Forest Servi jb Sﬁhﬂ
4

._14.(442‘, otly //‘[ ‘éf-/(u x.« ((7' tL/'- »-.1 4 ’/‘/ p /63’1)
Wthh was able to utilize certaln administrative Fees without

legislative interference, the B.I.A. had to obtain a congres-
sional appropriation in order to expend any of these moneys.

' a C,Qi&\ ALANA Qernn (M 4‘ L 0’?&‘14 b(-‘t:)“
[ As the result of the parsimony of Congres the reservation

! timber program was continually underfinanced. For fiscal
year 1927, $26,420 was requested from Congress but only $13,210
was appropriated, a neat halving of the request. This was

done despite a balance on hand in the Treasury from Quinault

8QSams to Lewis Meriam, February 12, 1927, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-42).

85James A. Howarth, Jr. to Commissioner of Indian
Affairs, March 19, 1988, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-43).
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timber sales of $40,203.8 The balance reached $60,000 in the

87

following year.

These funds had to cover all timber expenses on the
reservation. "The Quinaielt timber sales are self supporting,"
wrote Steer, "in that all costs incidental fhereto are paid
from the proceeds of the sale of the timber."88 The program
was headed by a reservation supervisor of forests. Under that
personage, a forest ranger was responsible for each sales unit
and the work of the two scalers normally assigned to the unit.89
Personnel requirements increased with the sale of three
additional units south of the Quinault River--Upper Wreck Creek,
Hatch)and Hall--in 1927 and 1928.

The cost of timber administration on the reservation
was conslderably higher than that in the neighboring Olympic
National Forest. For one thing, timber sales activity was
about three times greater on the Quinault. More important,
Steer pointed 6ut, was "the fact that we have individual allot-

ments to keep track of necessitating the segregation and

handling of every log" so that they would be credited to the

868teer to Cloud, February 3, 1927, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-L44).

87Howarth to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, March
19, 1938, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-43).

88Steer to Cloud, February 3, 1927, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-44).

89Annual Forest Report, Fiscal Year 1925, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-3).
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proper owner. "Were all our timber tribal or unallotted,
scaling would cost one third as much per thousand feet as it
does now."90 The quality of the original allotment survey,
moreover, required that a considerable amount of work in the
woods be undertaken. "It is necessary," Nicholson observed in
1934, "to carefully run and re-run all allotment lines in this

w91

area so as to segregate the timber. According to Steer,
"the allotment survey on the Quinaielt is very poor. We have
found sections that have never been sub-divided although the
entire section was allotted. This necessitates a great deal
of work in connection with timber sales, and raises our cost
of administration considerably."92
The matter of costs was only one example of the

fundamental distinction between the administration of B.I.A.
and Forest Service timberlands. "The prdblem on Indian lands
is essentially different from that on National Forest lands,"

J. P, Kinney maintained. The latter had a permanent status

as public property and expenditures for their improvement

905teer to Lee Muck, June 28, 1924, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-45). W. B. Sams noted that "painstaking
labor . . . must be performed in order to keep the logs from
separate allotments segregated, and to credit each allottee
with the timber that is cut from his allotment." Sams %o
Meriam, February 12, 1927, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-42).

91Nicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, March
15, 1934, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-46).

925teer to Muck, June 28, 1924, Tahola Indian Agency
Records (H-45).
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were bound to be popular. "There is little chance that the
value of such improvements to the owner--the public~-wiil be
lost through a change in the status of the land," Kinney noted.
But Indian lands, on the other hand, "are principally in a
status analogous to private ownership, and yet under decisions
of the Supreme Court of the United States the status of such
lands may be modified at almost any time’by an act of Congress."
This "element of uncertainty," Kinney concluded, “can hardly
fail to shake the resolution of any forester who desires that
land primarily adapted to the growth of timber crops shall be
handled with that one purpose in view."93
High costs, combined with the reluctance of an econo-
mizing Congress to appropriate sufficient funds, meant low
salaries for timber personnel and a consequent rapid turnover
in employees, especially in the crucial scaler positions. Two
scalers, for example, were-required on the Aloha operations

vt
on the Moclips Unit, but B men filled these positions in the

1N LW MR

first ## months of the company's activities on the unit. "We
have not been able to secure the services of competent scalers
at the salaries which we are,authorized to pay," superintendent

with o lawe® Crvieos T wduwos Ses ko hodot 10triosg
Sams noteqw "and an exceptionally high turn-over must be expected

93J. P. Kinney, "Forest Policy on Indian Timberlands,"
Journal of Forestry, XXV(April 1927), 430-431 (H-175).
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0 continue." One of the more experienced reservation scalers,

Ray Quast, had resigned to accept employment with Aloha at a
salary of $2400, a significant increase over his B.I.A. salary
of $1300.94 A 133 per_tent turnover of Quinault forestry

employees took place in 1923. "Efficient administration

cannot be expected under these conditions," Sams observed

with considerable understatement. 95
Addueruishichine prblie, ot untd, MM) RiA obiit, ot (o
White—psfTictent CLU.U'I_LKI.LUU.LG.LJ.U was pI.UV_LIlg to—be
&M-J b la.vy Cﬁ, 54 7, 0}4*7’ - .7 ttee leeded /Upmt{"‘-) &
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@brs«eencerﬁwwas demonstrated in an early case involving a
recalcitrant allottee. The allotment of Sally Williams was
within the Moclips Unit, but she refused to sign a power of
attorney authorizing inclusion of her timber in the sales unit,
instead holding out for a fee patent.96 "This clalim being with
held," B. J. Wooster of the Aloha Lumber Company informed Sams,
"is working a hardship on us as it is necessary to enter this

Sale Unit through her claim. . . . We have attempted to route

our Railroad other than through her claim but owing to the Moclips

River on one side and a Hemlock ridge on the other, the route

9L"Sams to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, October 25,
1923, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-47).

95Sams to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, February
4, 1924, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-48).

9 Ma., &, ia3+

6Wooster to Sams, , Aloha Lumber
Company Papers (Mo~ (l4-u4).
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through the allotment is the only practical location." Wooster
urgéd that everything be done to secure a right-of-way for
Aloha and, if possible, a forced sale of the Williams timber.97
Having failed in personal remonstrations with Sally
Williams, Ebrest §upervisor Steer pressed B.I.A. administrators
in the nation's capital to authorize action in the case. He
cited a May 1920 telegram from the/Késistant’Bécretary of the
Anterior affirming that "no allottee will be permitted to
interfere with or obstruct timber operations of successful
bidder Moclips Unit." The interests of the Indian allottees
must be protected, Steer conceded, "but the purchaser of a
tract of Indian timber has also some rights and is entitled to
fair and just treatment both by the Indians and the Department."
e~ faebvesed
In the current instance,ASally Williams was indeed being unfair
"and if she is allowed to persist in and maintain her present
uncompromising attitude she will not only obstruct and interfere
with logging operations on the Moclips Unit, but will cause the
successful bidder for this unit a substantial monetary loss
and bring the Service . . . into disrepute.”" Steer concluded

that "there is no reason except the mulish stubborness of an

0ld Indian woman why the timber on the Sally Williams allotment

97Wooster to Sams, May 9, 1922, Aloha Lumber Company
Papers (H-49).



should not be sold to the Aloha Lumber Company at this time."98

Finally, in October 1922, the ﬁécfetary of the,Ihterior
authorized the sale of the Williams timber, declaring the
allottee to be "an incompetent Indian."99 Within two years
of the sale, Sally Williams‘had received $9,975 for timber
she had been willing to sell for $6,700 pending approval of
her application for a fee patent. "This allottee," declared
Steér, "recelved approximately one third more for her timber

alone under government supervision than she was willing to sell
)

both land and timber for a cash price.{l\OO Clearly, in this

instance at least, B.I.A. acticns were beneficial to the
Indian; Sally Williams got substantially more money and
retained her land as well.

The Williams case established a precedent for the

handling of similar allottee obstruction of 1ogg1ng operatlons

e & O uywbx ol 8. Fink '%5 wtlw—n

on the reservatlo aﬁéseffers-argpoﬁ—examﬁ%e—eéLéﬁﬁyéké%%¥—+y2
o\z - - . ﬂ(léldu7 IZL/ I:,é:“ c‘

» : s. "It is not the policy of the Depart-

ment," superintendent Sams pointed out in 1924, "to allow any

98Steer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, May 10,
1922, Aloha Lumber Company Papers (H-~50). "The Indian people
are very intelligent people," Kinney recalled, "but they
haven't had the kind of training that leads them to have good
property sense. The Indian is likely to spend what he gets
too freely, and then think somebody took it away from him if
he spent it unwisely himself." Kinney with Maunder and Morgan,
"'Beginning Indian Lands Forestry,'" 13 (H-166).

99Sams to Aloha Lumber Company, October 26, 1922,
Aloha Lumber Company Papers (H-51).

1OOSteer to Cloud, February 5, 1927, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-26).
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individual allottee to obstruct the operations of a bona fide
company operating on Indian lands." The Williams solution was,
for example, applied to the case of another Moclips Unit allot-
tee, Isaac Bastian, refusing to sign a power of attorney.

Bastian "cannot be declared incompetent in the ordinary sense

6f the word," Sams reported to the F@mmissioner of Indian Affairs,
"but there is no doubt but that in matters pertaining to

timber operations and stumpage values that he is grossly

w101

unable to see where his best interests lie. Logging

operators expressed their gratitude for such assistance in
expediting the sales.102
While working to facilitate exploitation of the sales
units, B.I.A. officials looked to other policy matters. Because
of the heavy rainfall on the reservation, it was necessary to
ballast railroad tracks with a great deal of gravel, gravel
that was obtained from the extensive deposits on the Quinault.lo3
The question was whether or not the allottees should be paid for

gravel removed from their holdings. Aloha and Smith were

assessed five cents per cubic yard for gravel, but Hobi was

101sams to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, February
23, 1924, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-52).

102Wooster to Sams, June 5, 1922, Aloha Lumber Company
Papers (H-53).

103Steer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, June 6,
1923, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-54),
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not charged, and reservation officials believed the first two
companies were being treated unfairly. There should be no
charge for gravel, Sams argued, "except where there is an
actual damage done to the allotment from which the gravel is
removed." The value of Indian lands would certainly be "aug-
mented by the construction of railroads necessary for the

w104

development and removal of Indian timber. And the expenses

of most loggers on the reservation would be reduced as well, Ha lod)

o trpaese bl Codd b lenid ospeit Stoyoge o o sffect Wllts icoms

Reservation foresters sdse concerned ,themselves with

/ G qper ey ar(fw‘«)
the economic well-being of s After all, without
e loggers there would be no sales{and tee sales were a key
i_b‘J((,n,..-v‘l/umw L&‘AA‘

source of income to #he Indians. The early 1920s, when the
first five units were sold, had been years of considerable
prosperity for the lumber industry. But by the mid-twenties,
the industry was entering a prolonged period of>depressiog}
resulting from a fall-off in construction in the United States,
from declining foreign markets)and from the inability of
lumbermen to control production in their chaotic industry.

"There has been a depressed condition in the log and lumber

1ouSams to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, November
2, 1925, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-55). For similar
reasons, local B,.I.A. officers contended that the State
Highway Department should not be charged for gravel removed
to ald in construction of the Olympic Highway, being built
westward across the reservation from Lake Quinault in the
mid-1920s. Sams to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, August
1, 1925, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-56).
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market universally since last spring," Steer reported to the
"Indian Zommissioner in mid-1924. “This depression has not
been confined to Grays Harbor and to the Pacific North West,

e

V/but has also occuﬁbd in the pine country East of the mountains."
The depressed conditions, Steer continued, were "primarily
due to over production resulting in an excess of supply
over demand. When such an economic condition exists, prices
automatically drop, and will remain at a low level until the
demand catches up with the supply and the market stiffens."105
The situation in the Grays Harbor region, heavily
dependent on the lumber industry, matched this overview of
economic conditions. Superintendent Sams commented that "there
is no demand at all for either Hemlock or Cedar," the principal

timber resources of the Quinault. Aloha was operating at a

third of its normal level in the spring of 1924 and Hobi at a

fourth.106 Both shut down completely in June and remained
closed throughout the summer.lo?
The economic strain increased during 1925, "Conditions

in the logging and milling industry in the Grays Harbor region,"

Sams informed the Commissioner in mid-year, "have been to date

1055 teer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, August 14,
1924, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-57).

lOéSams to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, May 26,
1924, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-58).

1O7Steer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, August 14,
1924, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-57).
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considerably more unfavorable than they were in 1924."108

Operations on the reservation for fiscal 1925 were half of
what had been anticipated, with the cut barely exceeding 70
million feet.109 Few ébservers believed that the market would
pick up for some time, and, in fact, the lumber industry would
remain depressed for a decade. Burdened with prices and
cutting quotas agreed to in better times, logging operators
pressed the B.I.A. for relief.

Timber contracts provided for an increase in prices
during periods of price expansion in the industry. Such an
increase, for example, was made in the early twenties in the
price charged Aloha for hemlock on the Moclips Unit, a jump
from 90 cents to $1.25 per thousand feet. The contracts,aiso
provided, Steer pointed out, for decreases "to afford the
purchaser relief from a market depression" as long as the
~decrease did not fall below the initial contract price.

Faced with the depressed market for hemlock, which made up 23
pep:Eent of the Moclips Unit, Aloha requested a return to the
original price in mid-1924. This request was not granted,

Steer noting that "the present condition has /not/ existed

1085ams to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, June 18,
1925, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-59).

109Annual Forest Report, Fiscal Year 1925, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-3).
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long enough to upset a re-adjustment of stumpage prices based

on log values and logging costs over three year periods."110

By 1925, however, the seriousness of the economic situation

was evident and the price was reduced to 90 cents, "due to

unfavorable market conditions and to the inability of the

Company to earn a margin of profit."111
Logging companies were also required to cut at least

a minimum amount of timber within specified periods of the 1life

of the contract. The Hobi Lumber Company, for example, was

supposed to remove at least 10 million feet from the Cook

Creek Unit by spring 1925. This the company proved unable to

do, in part because of the economic downturn in the industry.

A one year extension of the deadline was granted, Sams writing

that this "will not delay the logging of any allotments to

any appreciable extent and it is not felt that additional

advance payments on any allotments should be made by reason

w112 An extension was also granted to the

of the extension.
M. R. Smith Company. Sams observed that the "only unsatis-

factory condition which will result . . . is that revenue will

11OSteer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, August 14,
1924, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-57).

1118ams to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, June 18,
1925, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-59).

1128ams to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, May 26,
1924, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-58). The Forest Service
apparently exacted some additional payment when granting
extensions. H. L. Plumb to Merrill & Ring Lumber Company,
December 20, 1929, Merrill & Ring Lumber Company Papers (H-60).
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not come in for the individual Indians as fast as they expected

under contract provisions. In periods of market depression

such as that which has been experienced during the past twelve

months, this condition cannot be helped.”113
The economic standing of the industry continued to

decline during the second half of the twenties. "The substantial

improvement in the market that has been eagerly awaited by the

lumber production %éustry during the past five years has not

yet materialized," the ommissioner of Indian Affairs reported

in 1929.114 ‘The industry virtually collapsed as the rest bf

the nation entered the Great Depression following the stock

market crash in 1929. "Conditions on the Harbor have gone

from bad to worse," N. 0. Nicholson observed in early 1931,

"and, except that one naturally would suppose that things

must change and improve, there appears to be nothing to

warrant the belief of any immediate improvements." Only a

few logging camps in the area were operating and only one

mill in Hoguiam was running, and that was only on a part-time

basis.115 Grays Harbor had turned out an average of a billion

feet of lumber a year during the twenties, but its output

113Sams to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, September
26, 1925, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-61).

11LJ'U.S. Department of Interior, Annual Report of the
Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 1929, 12 (H-171).

15N icholson to Muck, March 12, 1931, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-62).



50

slumped to little more than 200 million feet a year in the

early 19308.116

Four new timber units had been offered for sale in

1929 but had been withdrawn by the/S%cretary of the,l%terior
to stem charges of collusion. In 1931, the Aloha, Smith,
Hobi and Ogzette companies indicated that they would submit
bids if the units were again offered, although financing would
be a problem. The B.I.A. decided not to attempt the sales,
however. Forestiéupervisor James A. Howarth, Jr. pointed out
that “this is not a good time to readvertise these four units.

We feel sure that the four companies woﬁld try to buy
them to insure future timber, but we think it likely that
more than one of them might find financing too difficult and

117 Indeed, rather than being able to purchase

so fail to bid."
additional timber, the lumbermen, by now in the midst of the
Great Depression, were faced with the prospect of bankruptcy. Jn P
! T N T
AMG‘¥Kéy continued to look to the B.I.A. £EFWE§SlStaQC?A
The four companies had made a combined profit of
$143,000 during the 1920s on a cut of 1.2 billion feet of
reservation timber. Aloha showed a profit of $228,000, mostly
attributed to the export of logs, and Hobi was $118,000 in the

black. Ozette, however, had lost $45,000 on the reservation}

116Sankela, Forest Statistics for Grays Harbor
County, 6 (H-2).

117Howarth to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, January
13, 1931, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-63).
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and M. R. Smith had an overall loss of $158,000, showing a
profit only in 1923 and 1924. None of the companies had made
money in the closing years of the decade.118

Reservation officials helped secure a price reduction
for the Smith Company, logging on the Point Grenville Unit,
although the new rate was still above the original contract
price of 60 cents per thousand feet for hemlock. Nicholson
hoped that the cut would allow the company to resume operations.
"I have been advised, unofficially," he reported, "that they do
not expect to be able to start up under present conditions
unless the stumpage prices on this unit be reduced to those
effective at the time the sale was made."119 The loggers
must be allowed to operatgj4;* Wt wes & aUL“@RM; aiuﬁiﬁhfz

Nicholson also backed up the financially hard-pressed
Ozette Railway Company in its effort to postpone for three
years advance payments amounting to $51,000. He reminded the
Indian}ﬂbmmissioner that Ozette had contracted in 1923 to
pay $5 per thousand feet for cedar and $3 for hemlock, both
well above the advertised price. "Recent developments in the
lumber industry would make the difference between the prices
paid for this timber and the actual value represented therein,

greater than formerly." Nicholson conceded that "many of the

, 118Howarth to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, March
23, 1931, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-64).

1193 cholson to Muck, March 12, 1931, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-62). :
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Indians who would benefit from these advance payments will be

5

_ /
in real need of some of these @hnds. Fully half of them,
however, already have balancegito their credit at this office

{
and it is believed that apprd@al of the suggestion . . . would
"120

be consistent with the 1nteﬂests of the Indlans

s ‘St» - Tl e 1
/ ~ § // The Forest Service 4 ~%1¢ub to-assisd loggiggék%rmes
Ay i’ [/ R% ”{ Qﬂl ool s A/A Es, :
4§ ¥ grantiee exbermstoms of cutting requirements. 1In late 1929,
L
N for example, the Merrill and Ring Lumber Company, logging in

the Olympic National Forest, informed forest supervisor H. L.
Plumb that "it is going to be impossible to cut and remove
all of fhe timber by the time specified in the contract."

The company asked Plumb to "kindly arrange for an extension

nlel Noting

of the time for cutting and removing this timber.
that the contract did not expire until the end of 1930, Plumb
refused to give an extension in advance. However, he wrote
that he "did not see any reason why a reasonable extension
cannot be granted next fall. Extensions of this kind are
frequently granted, and I do not believe that there will be
any difficulty’in extending the time next fall.”122

B.I.A. foresters were also intent on protecting the

rights of the Indians, making sure that they received full

120Nicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
October 12, 1931, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-65).

121T. Jerome to Plumb, October 17, 1929, Merrill
& Ring Lumber Company Papers (H-66).

122Plumb to Merrill & Ring Lumber Company, December
20, 1929, Merrill & Ring Lumber Company Papers (H-60).
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value for their holdings. Faced with the falling market

for hemlock in mid-1924, the Smith Company decided that it
would leave those trees standing on allotments it was logging
on Point Grenville, returning to harvest them at a later date
when market conditions had improved.123 "I doubt very much,"
Paul Smith observed, "if we would be as well off to cut it and
think it might pay us better to pay the stumpage and leave it
standing." Smith asked that his company not be charged for
merchantable hemlock which had blown down in the great wind
storm of 1921, before the Grenville Unit contract had been
signed. ©Smith informed Steer that he had been told that "there

was a good deal of doubt in your mind as to the proper procedure

but that you might have to do something in order to pacify the

Indians."124

As far as Steer and other reservation officials were
concerned, however, there was no doubt about what should be
done. "I had not expected such a radical change in your cut-

125 "We cannot waive or

ting policy," Steer informed Smith.
change the contract provisions because of a temporary depres-
sion in the log market," he told forest ranger Lester McKeever.

"Hemlock merchantable under the provisions of the Pt. Grenville

1ZBSmlth to Steer, August 9, 1924 Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-67).

1ZLFSmith to Steer, August 27, 1924, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-68).

125Steer to M. R. Smith Lumber Co., August 8, 1924,
Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-69).
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contract must be scaled and paid for if left in the woods,
either standing or felled."126 Superihtendent Sams ordered
the company to remove "from the sale area . . . all the hemlock
that is sound and may fairly be considered merchantable within
the terms of the contract governing the sale of the Point Gren-
ville Unit.“127 Any other course would deprive allottees of
their rightful income.

Aloha, Hob;/and Ozette had cooperated fully with the
Bureau, but the Smith Company was a constant source of problems.
"This Company," forestry officers reported, "maintains a system
of continual protest against scaling, proper utilization, and
has even protested the prompt payment of Advance Deposits. The
pick-up scale . . . has been and is entirely too high."128
(Timber left gbewmedms on an allotment after logging was completed
was scaled and the logger was charged.) B.I.A. officials were
confident that the interests of the Indians were being
protected, and doubters had only to consult the record in
order to realize this fact. "Our annual average scale reports,"

Sams informed the Cémmissioner, "show that the Government

employees' scale is from 3% to 5% above the commercial sale

1268‘teer to Lester C. McKeever, August 12, 1924,
Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-70).

127Superintendent, Tahola, to M. R. Smith Lumber
Co., December 18, 1924, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-71).

128Annual Forest Report, Fiscal Year 1925, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-3).
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- of the logs shipped from the Quinaielt Reservation, and no

charge of underscaling or of favoring the contractors can

possibly be made in the light of this fact."129

As noted, forestry on the Quinault during the 1920s

was for the most part a matter of selling timber and supervising

the activities of loggers. Generally speaking, this was true
of public and private forestry in the Northwest. The modern

conservation movement in the Unlited States was an outgrowth
ot I LQL-’ 74#-4772/&/%127}», .

F]

of the'z&ogresgiye Er%, with its emphasis on the control of
natural resources by big business. Recognizing the dwindling
supplies of timber in muchbof the nation, Gifford Pinchot and
other foresters stressed the need for efficient management of
the forests so as to assure a permanent supply of timber.

These sentiments, however, were slow to spread to the
Northwest, with its vast and still largely undeveloped stands
of timbér. With high risks and small long-term incentives,
few lumbermen considered adopting new ways, and thus wasteful
exploitation remained a major characteristic of their industry.
"Timber owners and mill operators," Governor Roland H. Hartley
of Washington, himself an important lumberman, observed, "are
engaged 1n the competitive orgy of cutting, slashing and waste,

which if continued, not only spells ruin to those so engaged,

1298ams to @ommissioner of Indian Affairs, October
9, 1928, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-72).
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but means digaster to the economic 1life of +the state."ljo

Private owners of valuéble timberlands saw themselves
thfeatened by heavy property taxes, which made up the bulk
of state and local revenue. This threat was often used as an
excuse for the rapid cutting of timber in order to get out
from under the taxes, thus militéting against conservation.
"Owners of great stands of timber," Governor Hartley pointed
out with conventional rhetoric, "are going forward at breakneck
speed in an effort to salvage an investment which is rapidly
being confiscated by the tax collector."131
Unchecked fires, too, were a major deterrent to long-
term ownership. In 1903, the state of Washington, largely in
response to industrial insistence and political influence
following a catastrophic fire 1in 1902, had established an
agency to protect private lands from fire. By 1917, concerned
lumbermen had lobbied through legislation that made contri-
butions by timberland owners to a fire protedtion fund mandatory.
Eight years earlier, in 1909, the industry had formed the
Western Forestry and Conservation Association to coordinate
their fire prevention efforts. The year 1921 saw an industry-
supported state law assign responsibility for logging slash

to the land owner. When in 1923 Alex Polson, Hoguiam lumberman,

13OTimber Situation in the State of Washington,
1925, Hartley Papers (H-23).

1311144,
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testified before a U.S. Senate committee investigating forest
practices, he said: "We can protect the forests very well against

everything except taxes."132

This was an overstatement on Polson's
part, perhaps, but it was indicative of the thinking of the time.

By the 1920s, many progressive Northwest lumbermen were
coming to accept the necessity of conservation measures. The
problem, however, was how to reconcile theory with the realities
confronting the lumber industry.

B.I.A. officials displayed environmental concern on a
range of issues. The general timber regulations, for example,
provided authorization for the leaving of 300 feet wide strips of
-timber along lakeshores, streams, and public highways, "even
though," noted Nicholson, "there would be some loss to the

n133 This was regarded as highly

individual Indians affected.
impractical by many people. Allottees would surely object to
the leaving of valuable trees. (The strip on three éllotments
adjoining Lake Quinault, for example, was estimated to be wofth

$13,000.) Moreover, the strips were sure to blow down. "The

root system

132Harold K. Steen, "Forestry in Washington to 1925"
(Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation, University of Washington, 1969),
9£-97 21> (H-176) ; Polson's statement in U.S. Congress. Senate.
Select Committee on Reforestation, Hearings, 67:1, 866 (H-177).

133Nicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
January 26, 1931, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-73).
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of our forest trees is very small in extent and very shallow,"
Henry Steer observed, because of the moisture-saturated ground.
On the other hand, the trees often reached heights in excess of
250 feet. "The atmospheric conditions are such," Steer
insisted, "that where trees of such height and with such
shallow root systems are left exposed to winter storms, it is
a moral certainty that a large part of them will be wind thrown
within a few years."134
Nevertheless, the foresters attempted in the face of
these practical difficulties to preserve such timber strips.
Steer himself ordered that trees that could not be cut without
falling into the Quinault River be left standing. "These trees
will not be very numerous, and will serve the dual purpose of
re-seeding portions of the cut over areas, and of preserving,
in a minor degree, the scenic value of the river." 1In addition,
if logs and slash were not kept out of the water, they might.
well "drift down the river . . . ZEng7 do many hundreds of
dollars worth of damage to the nets of the Indian fishermen
at Tahola."135 Superintendent Nicholson directed that only
the choicest timber be removed from the banks of the Quinault.
"A clean logging of the area directly adjoining the river

detracts from the scenic value of the river, and it has been

134Steer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, September
21, 1927, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-74).

1358teer to Ray C. Quast, April 14, 1930, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-75).
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contended--and possibly with much merit that the logging of
the timber . . . will affect the salmon run and the fishing
of salmon on or along the Quinaielt River."136
Efforts were also made to clean out log jams that
occasionally built up on the lower reaches of the Quinault
River and restribted Indian travel on the watercourse.137
The reservation waterways had to be kept clear. Steer
responded immediately when he heard that the Aloha Company
had been dumping refuse into the Moclips River. "This matter
is very specifically covered in the regulations which are made
a part of every timber contract," he informed the company, "and
/ I_/ will have to ask you to discontinue the present practice
and either burn or bury garbage and other refuse from the

1 38 hl”!l\ 28 f"fll:tfﬂ [ V™ nu;b l‘“‘\(’"‘*“’{-
camps." ) When it came to #sgwr conservation 1 suei, however,

the Bureau was stymied. The scene as contemplated from the
conservation advocate's easy chair differed greatly from that
viewed by Quinault personnel, |

The logging practice most jarring to conservationist
sensibilities, in the 1920s as today, was that of cleatibutting,

or the remowal of all trees from areas logged. Cleaé:butting

136Nicholson to Howarth, January 26, 1931, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-73).

137Nicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
August 3, 1931, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-76).

13BSteer to Aloha Lumber Company, June 12, 1924,
Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-77).
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was almost universally the rule on the Olympic Peninsula, both
on public and private timberlands.139 B.I.A. fimber contracts
15 be suld tontlha :

provided that those treesAmarked for selective logging would
osemdd, leaving the designation of such trees pretty much up
to the interpretation of local forestry officials. Simiiar
requiremehts governed logging on Forest Service land. In
practice, this meant the logging of all but the smallest trees.
On the reservation those trees with a diameter of at 1easé¥uﬁnuv
inches at a point four-and-a-half feet above the ground, the
standard height for diameter measurement, had to be logged, or
at least paid for by the contractor.lao

The method of logging on the reservation, the so-called
"high lead" system, also made cleaﬁ:butting inevitable. Uti-

lizing steam-driven cables strung from spar trees, this System

had been in general use in the Grays Harbor region since about

6_141_

191 It "levels all the timber," Nicholson recalled in the
mid-1930s, "and with that system selective tree logging was
impossible."lL"2 Steer pointed out that "no selective logging

is practised" 1in the area, "nor can it be practised successfully,

139Steer to Charles Van Way, June 4, 1927, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-78). ,

1L"ONicholson to Robert Marshall, September 24,
1935, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-79).

1L{'lsankela, Forest Statistics for Grays Harbor
County, 9 (H-2).

142Ni cholson to Marshall, September 24, 1935,
Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-79).
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for the use of high speed steam machinery prohibits this prac-
tise.”143 Some other more sophisticated means of harvesting
timber would have to be devised before it would be practicable
to abandon cleaﬁ:;utting. He had "a good deal of faith in the
possibilities of selective logging," William Greeley, secretary
of the West Coast Lumbermen's Association and former head of
the Forest Service, observed, but its practicalitfy had yet
to be demonstratedj&qg—ga' t ’Dﬂ5&5’%j ’%Y;”'/¢4 |

There were, moreover, a number of objections against
the concept of selective logging. Indian allottees, as we
shall see, would be sure to object to a system that would
leave much of their timber standing and thus delay the reali-
zation of maximum financial return for their holdings. And
the leaving of "isolated individual trees, or clumps of trees,"
Steer insisted, would be a mistake. "“Experience has shown that
the trees so left gsoon blow over because of exposure to the
winds and also because of the extremely shallow root system
of all trees in this locality."145 R. D. Merrill, a prominent
Olympic Peninsula logger, suggested that it would be "impossible

to make an accurate selection of the logs in the woods" because

1438teer to Van Way, June 4, 1927, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-78).

144Greeley to Merrill, October 23, 1931, Merrill &
Ring Lumber Company Papers (H-80).

1458teer to Van Way, June 4, 1927, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-78).
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of the "human element." Trees which might best be left standing
would be cut, as "we believe it is better to err on the side

of taking logs of poor quality, or logs which are a trifle

too small, rather than on the side of leaving in the woods

| SN e
w156 Ar= it would impose

logs which really should be taken.
severe burdens on logging operators if they were required to
purchase the expensive new egquipment necessary to practice
selective logging, especlally in the depressed conditions of
the late 1920s and early»19BOs.147
When discussing cleat:butting, ohe must first distinguish
betweeﬁ the devastated areas that nineteenth century lumbermen
left in their wake and a modern clearcut prescribed by a pro-
fessional forester as the optimum silvicultural method. In both
situations all of the trées are removed, but with significant
differences. The forester's clearcut is much smaller, with
allowances for regeneration and soill protection. To a forester,
cleaé:butting is not only a logging system but a regeneration
system as well. Such systems are chosen according to growth
characteristics of desired species. Cleaf:gutting, seed tree,
shelterwood and selection are among the methods the forester

P
congiders. After taking species, terrain, soil type, and market

140y errill to Greeley, October 28, 1931, Merrill &

Ring Lumber Company Papers (H-81).

) 147Nicholson to Marshall, September 24, 1935, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-79).
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into account, the forester picks the best method of removing the
0ld stand--either en masse by clea{:butting or in stages by
one of the other techniques. Planning for the new forest, then,
plays a major part in choosing the method for logging the old.
Even modern clea{:Eutting had a deleterious impact on
reforestation, and this was recognized as its major defect.
A Forest Service study published in 1938 showed that 84 peé:Eent
of cutover acreage logged in Grays Harbor County prior to 1920
had been restocked. But only 57 pe{:kent of the 113,000 acres
logged in the 1920s, after adoption of the high lead system,
was in the process of being restocked. In the fog belt along
the coast, where the reservation was locafed, 43 peé:}ent of the
acreage logged in the twenties had not been restocked, 30 per
cent was poorly-stocked, and only 27 pe{jpent was being
reforested on a satisfactory basis. "A change in logging methods
was no doubt la?gely responsible for the increase in the area

of non-restocked cutover land," the study concluded, as the high

lead method "destroys the advance reproduction and immature

trees that might provide a source of seed."148 B.I.A. forester

Lee Muck agreed with this assessment, reflecting in 1938 that

"the o0ld destructive method of cutting produces little in

the way of real forestry and leaves the land in a state which

: 148Sankela, Forest Statistics for Grays Harbor
County, 9 (H-2).
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149

at best will take many years to reforest successfully."”

Natural regeneration was relied on almost completely
for purposes of reforestation, both on the reservation and on
other public and private timberlands. Research on seed fiight
strongly suggested that smaller clearcuts or strategically
placed seedblocks would improve the reliability of natural
regeneration.

Only a few small attempts at tree planting were made.
In early 1929, for example, 3,500 young spruce trees were
planted on 30 acres of tribal land on the Moclips Unit.150
"As far as we know," superintendent Sams reported, "this is the
first planting of a tract of anything like an area of 30 acres

. . that has ever been done 1in Grays Harbor County, although

one or more private companies have been conducting experiments

151

in broadcasting seed for several years.' By 1931, nearly

300 acres on the reservation had been planted with seedlings.152

But the lack of adequate funds and personnel ruled out any

111'9Muck to Nicholson, October 15, 1938, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-82).

15OU.S. Department of Interior, Annual Report of
the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 1930, 20 (H-178).

1518ams to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, March
23, 1929, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-83).

152Howarth to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, March
11, 1931, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-84),.
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large-scale attempt at reforesting by planting.153 Still,
B.I.A., officials were concerned with the lack of reforestation
on the Quinault and the implications for the future of a
reservation not particularly suited for non-forest activity.
Cleaq:butting was beginning to pose.some serious
problems, aside from its esthetically unsettling impact on
the minds of sensitive persons. But given the circumstances
of the timegzwihe methods prevalent among loggers, an alterna-
tive was hard to find, or at least an alternative that could
be successfully applied on the Quinault. The debate over
cleag:éutting continﬁes to this day.
Clea{:butting also greatly increased the dahger of
fire by producing large areas of logging debris, or slash.
The mass of tops, branches, small trees and brush was highly
. L\;.,lr o (taa ('/sty,gv;w , o 2 '
flammablﬁdand forest fires often originated in such cutover
places, rather than in standing timber. "Conditions undef
which a fire will burn in green timber and [gig7 very unusual

154_ "T do not

if not entirely improbable," the B.I.A. noted.
believe there is any great forest fire danger in green uncut

timber," Steer wrote in 1929, "for the records of this Agency

153Sams to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, March
23, 1929, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-83). The B.I.A.
also cooperated with the Forest Service in planting projects
in the Olympic National Forest. Howarth to Commissioner of
%ndia? Affairs, March 30, 1931, Tahola Indian Agency Records
H-85).

154Annual Forest Report, Fiscal Year 1925, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-3).
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‘V/;;t only do not show any fires in green timber to have occuréa,
but in several instances known to me fires in slashings have
stopped when they ran into the green timber."155 With the
considerable increase in logged-off acreage in the 1920s, the
potential for fires mounted and so.did the hazards for the
future of the reservation. "The protection of young foresfs
and logged-off lands," contended the Washington Forest Fire
Association, "are yearly calling for greater attention and

unless this is given the reforestation movement is retarded.”156

The problem of what to do with the slash, whether to
risk burning it in a préZémptive manner to reduce the danger
of uncontrolled forest fires or to allow it to accumulate
while guarding against the latter development, became a major
point of dispute in the Northwest industry. "The chief
reason for slash burning as a forestry measure,rjgéornton

Munger, director of the Forest Service experiment station,

peteds "1s to reduce the fire menace of the vast amount of'

dry litter, that there may be less chance of accidental fires

later." 1In addition, "broadcast slash burning" was seen by

many foresters as "a necessary measure 1in securing reforestation

155Steer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, March
5, 1929, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-86).

156Washington Forest Fire Association to Members,
May 1, 1929, Merrill & Ring Lumber Company Papers (H-87).
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in that it bares the ground and stimulates generation." Most
lumbermen in the Douglas fir region, observed Munger, accepted
the necessity of this course.l57 114&41%

H. L. Plumb of the Forest Service, for one, advocated
the burning of slash. "We have found through experience,"
he wrote, "that whenever it is possible it is best to burn the
slash."l58 Plumb, commented N. O. Nicholson, "believes that
the risk of Z?ores§7 fire is too great and that the Zfores§7
fires are too hard to hzndle when started and that it is
accordingly impracticable to allow large areas of slash to
accumulate as a means of saving small amounts of reproduction
left after logging.”159 Many other foresters agreed with this
view. "It is absolutely the wrong thing to do," one wrote,
"as everyone has been doing--to try to keep the fire out of
the timber as long as possible and thereby séve up all the old
dry brush and everything to make a real fire when it does get
afire and there is no use trying to stop it."léo

The burning of slash was a delicate and risky

business and if not handled properly threatened to ignite the

157Thornton T. Munger, Timber Growing and Logging
Practice in the Douglas Fir Region (Washington, D.C., 1927),
9 (H-88).

158Plumb to Jerome, October 3, 1930, Merrill & Ring
Lumber Company Papers (H-89).

159Nicholson to Kinney, July 15, 1932, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-90).

160J. G. Grainger to Fred E. Pape, March 25, 1920,
Louis F. Hart Papers, Washington State Archives (H-91),
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Avery conflagration it was supposed to prevent. C. S. Cowen,
chief fire warden of the Washington Forest Fire Association,
urged that slash be burned only at the end of dry spells. "At
that time the slashings will be dry and will burn readily, .
and if the fires are set when the rain is forecast, a clean
burn can be obtained with but little danger." Preparations
must be made well in advance and the fire itself set with
considerable care. "A fire to properly dispose of slash,"
Cowzn pointed out, "must burn freely--at the end of a dry
spell, the debris is very inflammable, and with a rain falling,
_or obviously about to fall, fires can be set safely, if given
a good Start."161

For other foresters, the risk was too great. "There
are very few places in Western Washington," maintained state
forester Fred Pape in 1920, "where this method could be

w162 Among these doubters were

practised without great danger.
the officials of the B.I.A. in Hoquiam. "The general policy
hereafter on the Quinaielt Indian Reservation," Sams informed

one logger in late 1926, "will be to leave the slash unburned

on logged areas."163 This was seen as the proper course for

1610. S. Cowan to logging operators, August 26, 1929,
Merrill & Ring Lumber Company Papers (H-92).

162Pape to Grainger, March 30, 1920, Hart Papers (H-93).

163Sams to Ozette Railway Co., November 13, 1926,
Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-94).
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the reservation, althdugh there remained some doubts. "There
is no question," Nicholson pointed out, "but that leaving
slash and saving of reproduction already on the ground together
with the seed on the ground would be the proper forest poiicy
if fires could be kept out. Tﬂe gquestion is whether the
danger attendant upon allowing large areas of slash to accumulate
offsets the silvicultural advantages obtained through leaving |
slash on the ground.“léLL Precautions were instituted to lessen
the danger. Loggers were prohibited from setting fires without
written permission from the agency and were required to fell
Call snags on cutover areas.165 ey Df course, on the reser-
vation, public access was restricted, reducing still further a
common source of ignition.

Conditions on the reservation differed from those in
the Douglas fir region in the central and eastern stretches
of the Olympic Peninsula, aréas that had inspired the concerns
of H. L. Plumb and other advocates of slash burning. Theories
devised for other areas might not apply. In the coastal fog
bélt, Thornton Munger of the Forest Service commented, "the
brush disposal and fire protective conditions are‘somewhat

different, and hence require a slightly different system of

164NicholSon to Kinney, July 15, 1932, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-90).

165Sams to Ozette Railway Co., November 13, 1926,
Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-94).
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forest management from that suited to the Douglas fir type."
Slash from hemlock, spruce and cedar, Munger observed, "is

less combustible than Douglas fir brush; the needies fall off
fhe first season, and the fog-belt climate promotes a luxuriant-
growth of shrubbery which quickly clothes logged-off land. . . .
On such areas the fire risk quickly diminishes to that of the
virgin forest." Leaving the slash, moreover, would aid
regeneration of these varieties of timber. They "are more
exacting as to moisture requirements than fir, and hence

166

germination is best in duff and where the site is not too dry."

By choosing not to burn slash, reservation foresters

had to rely on protective measures to prevent fires from
starting and getting out of hand. The increasing emphasis

they placed on this task in the 1920s reflected a major trend

in the forest industry. Nationally, the amount of money
expended on fire prevention increased markedly during the
decade, as did the number of fires. In Washington state, fires
. k\((f(( . . ) 167
dessresad $5.7 million worth of timber between 1918 and 1930.

The state passed legislatlion prohibiting the building of fires

166

Muneger, Timber Growing and Logging Practice in
the Douglas Fir Region, 6-7, 12-13 (H-88).

167Washington State Division of Forestry Report,
1930, Hartley Papers (H-95).
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in the woods at other than designated camping areas without
permit.l68 Cooperative arrangements among the state, federal
agencies, including the B.I.A., and private interests were
worked out to combat the fire menace.l69
Initially, B.I.A. officials regarded the danger in
theilr jurisdiction as minimal. "The relative humidity on
the Quinaielt is very high," the agency report pointed out in
1925, "and almost nightly fogs in the summer, especially along

n170 Thornton

the beach, materially reduce the fire danger.
Munger supported this judgment, observing that "the fire
problem is less difficult in the fog-belt than in the Douglas
fir type, for accidental burning of slashing is easier to guard

171 Henry Steer noted that protection against fires

against."
was "vastly more of a problem" in the Olympic National Forest
than 1t was on the Quinault. "The National Forest includes

practically the entire Olympic peninsula Z%he Olympic National

168D. A. Scott to De Los W. Fowler, May 5, 1921,
Hart Papers (H-96). Such laws caused considerable problems
for Olympic Peninsula farmers. "Most of these farmers," a

Seattle businessman informed Governor Hartley, "have more or
less land which should be cleared and in many instances
additional cleared land is necessary to make their farms a
success, but the fire warden is so rigid and so arbitrary

in his regulations that he prevents these farmers burning up
the logs and clearing the land." D. E. Fryer to Roland H.
Hartley, January 15, 1925, Hartley Papers (H-97).

: 169Division of Forestry Report, 1930, Hartley Papers
H-95).

170Annua1 Forest Report, Fiscal Year 1925, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-3).

171Munger, Timber Growing and Logging Practice in
the Douglas Fir Region, 12 (H-88).
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Park was not created unti%\%he-%a¢e~%9§9§7 and is visited by
thousands of campers and tourists each year." This was not

the case on the Quinault, and, Steer reported in mid-1924,
"fire protection work on the reservation is practically
hegiigible, due to the climate, the proximity of the ocean,
and the inaccessibility."l72
But with the beginning of large-scale logging on the
reservation, the foresters soon became convinced of the need
for more thorough protective measures.l73 "With the area of

logged off land increasing year by year," the agency maintained
in 1925, "and the construction of the Olympic Highway from the
Lake to the Queets, throwing open the entire northern part of
the reservation to campers and vacationists, the problem of
fires on the Quinaielt will become more acute year by year."
Three fires had broken out during the 1925 fiscal year, one of
them a major conflagration resulting from the burning of slash
in the southern part of the Grenville Unit. "Embers from the

. . fire," the annual reéort recounted, "blew over one mile
of green timber and started a very bad fire in the Moclips

Unit, which burned over all the logged off land in the eastern

end of the unit, destroyed the Aloha camp, and burned out three

1725teer to Muck, June 28, 1924, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-45).

1735uperintendent to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
September 6, 1924, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-98),
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large railroad trestles."17u

Such incidents demonstratéd the dangers of slash
burning and helped to produce the ban of that practice on
the reservation. The destruction, moreover, indicated how
difficult it was to fight a fire once it had got underway.
"The only feasible means of control," the agency contended,
"are to back fire from green timber or a railroad grade,
and let the fire burn out. . . . The only thing to do in this
country is to patrol thoroughly and get the fires while they
are small, as ordinary methods of trenching, etc. are absolutely
useless here."l75 Prevention and swift, initial attack became
the focus of reservation policy. e

There was another aspect of the slash ;;Eg&égl As
was clearly pointed out by B.I.A. officials during this period,
the allotment policy created management’froblems, including the
handling of slash. Ownership was hﬂi%gézre parcels, but
iiﬁizkgiigmu{?tion involved many Contiguous allotments. It
wasA;mpossib}s 0 burn one allotment in a cutting area and not
burn ad jacent ownerships as well. It was either all or none,

as far as slash disposal in any one logging unit was concerned.

A study of the forest fire problem got underway in

174Annual Forest Report, Fiscal Year 1925, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-3).

1751114.
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late 1924.176 Previously, the B.I.A. had limited its efforts

to the hiring of temporary forest guards in the summer months,
relying on the logging companies for patrol work. The forest
rangers on each unit were also made deputy state fire wardens
and charged with enforcing state fire prevention regulations.177
A more active role for the federal government, however, resulted
from the B.I.A. study.

In early 1927, Superintendent Sams recommended a five
year plan to the Indian/ﬂ%mmissioner. The report divided the
reservation into two aréas, that which had been sold and that
which had not. (Most of the timber south of the Quinault River
héd been sold; with the exception of the Quinault Lake Unit,
the timber north of the river remained to be sold.) The
government should undertake only minimal work in units that
had been sold, "for the railroad right-of-ways which have been
or will be constructed within the next five years will form a
net work over the area, affording a better means of access and
egress than trails would give." Rather, the effort should
concentrate on the unsold area. Trails should be built into

the woods from the Olympic Highway, due to be completed in the

fall of 1927,‘and at least three lookout towers should be

l768uperintendent to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
September 6, 1924, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-98).

177Annual Forest Report, Fiscal Year 1925, Taholah
Indian Agency Records (H-3). '



75

erected. The total cost of the project, plus the salaries
of seven new agency employees, would amount to nearly $70;OOO.178
That figure was the sticking point, as it provéd
impossible to secure the funds necessary to implement the
project. Apparently, only one of the contémplated lookout
towers was constructed. The state of Washingtbn, as a com-
parison, was able to put up Iéf;uch towers in the western half
of the state between 1928 and 1930.179 The dependence of Dol om.
forestry operations on Congress, the lack of an independent
source of funds, again militated against sound management. "We
are unable to do as much as we would like to," Steer commented
in reference to fire protection, "because of lack of funds.”18o
Much of the work that was accomplished was due to the lumber
industry depression, which reduced or shut down logging
operations and made regular B.I.A. personnel available for
protection purposes.181
Ironically, that very depression both created new
dangers and prevented a serious response to those hazards.

Efforts to combat fires, §uperintendent Nicholson informed J. P.

Kinney in the summer of 1932, "will present a real problem this

1788ams to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, April 30,

1927, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-99).

( , 179Division of Forestry Report, 1930, Hartley Papers
H-95).

18OSteer to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, March 5,
1929, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-86).

181yicholson to Kinney, March 25, 1931, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-100).
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season in view of the fact that there 1s very little employment
available and hundreds and hundreds of men are in need of and
are seeking employment, and would . . . start fires in a minute
if they thought it would make employment avallable to them or
others in fighting these forest fires." An incendiary fire

had been started on the Cook Creek Unit and only regular

}
employees had been sent to put it out. "We had decided,"
Nicholson noted, "that if we should once start out by hiring
-a crew of fire fighters, particularly early in the season, that
we would have fires upon fires all season long, and that it
would be impossible to obtain either men or money enough to°
cope with the fire situation." Refusal to make a major effort
agéinst fires was in itself dangerous, but it was the least
undesirable course and one that was followed by the Forest
Service and private timber owners as well.182 Foresters had
to be, at all times and in all ways, practical men, ignoring.
~theory when dictated by reality.

Quinault foresters had been realistic men throughout
the 1920s. Their activities had focused on the sale and cut-
ting of timber, as did those of their colleagues in much of

the forest industry. Timber was meant to be cut in the most

economical fashion. The ends sought by conservationists were

182Ni cholson %o Kinney, July 15, 1932, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-90).
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appealing, but the means necessaryito achieve those ends often
confiicted with prevailing sentiments and practices, and even
with the best management of the Quinault forest. The B.I.A.
foresters were no better than their brethren in the Northwest,
but they were no worse either. And if their attitudes toward
ot i
the Indian allottees wereApaternalistic and condescending, so
were the attitudes of nearly all white Americans.

Full-scale exploitation of the reservation had got
underway in the early twenties with high hopeé. The times
were prosperous and lumbermen expected to enrich themselves, as
did, albelt on a lesser scale, the Indian owners of Quinault
timber. By 1930, two-thirds of the reservation was allotted
and most of the remaining 67,000 acres were available to unal-

183 Howewor,
Bz=r the dreams of enrichment had

lotted tribal members.
collapsed along with the lumber market and the nation's

economy. Lumbermen suffered and Indians suffered, the latter

‘with less of a cushion to,fall back on, for many their only

beetig e nrentl ressamed allofuin, po
assetgﬂfer—*he—%émeLbeing worthless. Everyone associated with

the Quinault awaited a new deal of the economic cards.

183Nicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
November 24, 1930, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-4).
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THREE
THE NEW DEAL AND THE QUINAULT

Franklin D. Roosevelt, having promised that new deal
in his election campaign, entered the presidency in March 1933,
after defeating Herbert Hoover. The latter's individualist ethos
and a Republican Congress prompted cautious'action by the federal

87T

government to combat the economic emergency: The new Roosevelt

sdministration did not shy away from increased federal actién,
making it differ from its Republican predecessors. The pro-
‘business philosophy of Harding, Coolidge, and Hoover was sup-
plemented by new emphases. For one thing, Roosevelt, who prided
himself on his tree-planting activities on his New York estate,
was an advocate of conservation measures and was determined that
such measures could rehabilitate man and land alike.

His administration,after working to stabilize industry--

the source of jobs--placed increasing

! o7

The Hoover Administration had instituted some reforms
in the federal government's handling of Indian affairs, increasing
expenditures on education, and other activities. The administra-
tion, however, remained wedded to the allotment concept. See
Kenneth Philp, "Herbert Hoover's New Era: A False Dawn for the
American Indian, 1929-1932," Rocky Mountain Social Science Journal,
IX (April 1972), 53-60 (H-179); Downes, "Crusade for Indian Reform,"
344-351 (H-164).
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*(;emphasis on meeting the needs of the unenmployed, by direct means.
These new pfiorities were reflected in the workvof the Bureau
of Indian Affairs.

Begun during the last year of the Hoover Administration,

the U.S. Forest Service published A National Plan for American

Forestry in early 1933. In two volumes and 1677 pages, the
‘report described the problems of, and recommended programs for,
all categories of forest land in the United States. The section
on Indian lands was authored by Henry Steer, in earlier years

a forester for the B.I.A. but now senior forest economist for

185

the Forest Service.

Steer summarized the situation on forested reservations.
The forests were owned by the Indians and were managed "primarily
fpf the best benefit of their Indian owners." He observed that
technically correct forestry practices for the benefit of the
general public were not always compatible with the requirements
of managing reservation timber. In some situétions. timber
sale receipts constituted the only income for Indians, and thus
there was a definite pressure to maximize revenue. It was clear
to Steer that under these circumstances "insistence upon the

practice of a highly intensive forest policy cannot be justified."18

185U.S. Congresé, Senate, A National Plan for

American Forestry, 73:1, 607-632 (H-180).
186

Tbid., 618-619,
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Stability and continuity, central to forest management,
were denied to Indian lands, for "under decisions of the Supreme
Court of the United States the status of Indian lands may be
modified at any time by an act of Congress." It would be
irrational and unjust, surmised Steer, to apply forestry tech-
niques to Indian lands that postponed income, which then might
be lost by a congressional act that changed the status of the
land. %7

In sum, Steer believed that the courts and Congress
 were to blame for the uncertalinty that plagued the Indians.

:;By implication, the Dawes Act of 1887 did not inclu®d timberland,
and "unfortunate" court interpretation of the act made application
of sustained yield and conservation less likely. He Jjudged

2

“the allotment concept toriargely a failure and saw it as

causing economic loss to the Indians.188

A National Plan for American Forestry had a major

impact on the course of forestry, generally, and on Indian

- forest policy, specifically. The report provided a blueprint
for the new Democratic majority in Congress as legislation was
drafted or as bills ihherited from previous administrationg
were revised. Rigorous advocacy by the new ﬂGmmissioner of

Indian Affairs bore fruit and in June 1934 President Roosevelt

1871p14., 618-619.

1881p54., 614-615.
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- signed the Wheeler-Howard Act into law.189

The Indian Reorganization, or Wheeler-Howard, Act

marked a major change in the federal government's Indian

- Wi ol Colliim

v policy.19o The legislation was inspire ﬁyAsociai worker ¢v-{'
John—ooPkrory=a longtime leader of Indian reformers and critic
of the B.I.A., who had been appointed/ﬁgmmissioner of Indian
Affairs by President Roosevelt.191 Collier opposed the
assimilationist philosophy behind the Dawes Act and proposed
instead a revivél of traditional tribal insititutions; Indians
were Indians, Collier and his supporters argued, not aspiring

192 Ine Wheeler—Howard Act ended the

white men and women.
granting of allotments. Instead, it proposed to "grant to
those Indians living under Federal tutelage and control the

freedom to organize for the purposes of local self-government

and economic enterprise." The functions exercised by the B.I.A.

189% inney, A Continent Lost, 309-310 (H-170).

19OSee Lawrence C. Kelly, "The Indian Reorganization
Act: The Dream and the Reality," Pacific Historical Review,
XLIV(August 1975), 291-312 (H—181),

191On Collier's appointment, see Lawrence C. Kelly,
"Choosing the New Deal Indian Commissioner: Ickes vs. Collier,"
New Mexico Historical Review, XLIX(October 1974), 269-288 (H-
103). On his activities in the 1920s, see Kenneth Philp,
"John Collier and the Crusade to Protect Indian Religious
Freedom, 1920-1926," Journal of Ethnic Studies, I(Spring 1973),
22-38 (H-182).

1920n the implementation of these new concepts, see
Graham Taylor, "The Tribal Alternative to Bureaucracy: The
Indian's New Deal, 1933-1945," Journal of the West, XIII(1974),
128-142 (H-183); Graham D. Taylor, "Anthropologists, Reformers,
and the Indian New Deal," Prologue, VII(Fall 1975), 151-162
(H—%OZ); Kelly, "The Indian Reorganization Act," 291-312 (H-
181).
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would gradually be turned over to the Indians as they demon-
strated their capacity for self—government.193 In effect, the
reservations were to become semi-independent governmental
entities.

Following the passage of the Wheeler-Howard Act, a tribal
council was established at Tahola. Henceforth, B.I.A. officials
on the reservation would have to consult closely with the
Indians, involving them in the negotiation of new timber
contracts and the renegotiation of old ones. The new law
greatly increased the role of the Indians, who previously had-
been regarded by reservation personnel as unable to see their
own best interests and whosegégg¥inance had occasionally hindered
the effective running of the Quinault. Unfortunately, this
enhanced position soon produced a conflict with the other new
priority of the agency, conservation,

The regulations governing Indian timber sales had
directed'that selective logging "will be practiced on all
lands chiefly suitable for the production of timber érops.”194
As we have seen, this directive was ignored because it

conflicted with the methods of logging practical in the

Northwest; similar requirements were overlooked by the Forest

MR 22 Cont, Aol 5 (D[ gy

193Wheeler—Howard Bill, ceery T PoretdH—Etarie
f“Rapensq»Manﬁscriptsweoiiee%i@n, Aniversifty-ef-tashinsten #“1974
Liboasr—tH=t047 ,

194U S. Indian Service--Forestry Branch, General
Timber Sale Regulations, copy in Merrill & Ring Lumber
Company Papers (H-105).
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Service. Now, the Wheeler-Howard Act "aufhorized and directed"

the/ﬁécretary of the Jnterior "to make rules and regulations

for the operation and management of Indian forestry units on

the principle of sustained yield management."195 New timber

sale regulations promulgated in 1936, moreover, reinforced

the emphasis on selective logging.196 The Wheeler-Howard Act

proviso, along with the conservation orientation of the

Roosevelt/ﬂﬁministration, B.I.A. forester Lee Muck wrote,

meant "thét there is no alternative other that /sic/ to practice

sustained-yield forestry on the Quinaielt Indian Reservation--

a requirement which when viewing the problem from a practical

standpoint reduces the issue to the development of the Quinaielt

in accordance with practical selective logging methods."197
Muck's interpretation of the relationship between the

Wheeler-Howard Act mandate for sustained yield and selective

logging merits discussion. First of all, sustained yield is a

term having two different meanings. During the early years of

American forestry, when European theories were dominant,

195Whee1er‘~Howard Bill, copy in D. Clark Papers (H-
104) . ' 4 . '

196Digest of Timber Selling Regulations, U.S. Indian
Service, March 14, 1939, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-106).

197Muck to Nicholson, October 15, 1938, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-82). Visiting the Olympic Peninsula
in 1937, President Roosevelt viewed a clear-cut area along
the Olympic Highway and fumed: "I hope the lumberman who is
responsible for this is roasting in hell." Elmo Richardson,
"Olympic National Park: Twenty Years of Controversy," Forest
History, XII(April 1968), 10 (H-184).
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éustained yield was primarily a biological concept--to grow
trees at a rate equivalent to exploitation in order to assure
future supplies. The American lumber industry, popular
folklore to the contrary, faced chronically glutted markets
and fluctuating prices; scarcity was not a problem, but
oversupply of timber was causing serious trouble. As fhe
lumber industry migrated westward in its continental quest for
standing timber, the depleted forest lands left in its wake

|2 U(*‘,'fcru{

exeeted the image of impending shortages. But as far as the
national lumber market was concerned there was too much lumber,
_driving prices downward and threatening the stability of
lumber-dependent communities.

The means to stabilize these lumber-dependent communities
and to control overproduction were constantly sought. A new
concept of sustained yield was giVen national prominence in
1931 by the National Timber Conservation Board, which had been
appointed by President Hoover at the request of the lumber
industry. This new concept was market-oriented. Lumber pro-
duction was to be sustained at a level compatible with the
market's ability to absorb it without lowering prices. The
previous goal of sustaining forests was augmented by the goal
of'sﬁstaining the lumber industry.

Lee Muck was coauthor of a Timber Conservation Board
report that spelled out how forested Indiah lands should be

incorporated into the larger forest land picture. His report

recommended that the Olympic Peninsula be divided into several

subunits, one of which would be a Grays Harbor Unit. %he
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gubunttay—one—-of-which—-woutd—be—a—Grays—Harbor—tYnit. The
Quinault Reservation would be part of this latter unit.198

This new concept of sustained yield, wherein timber
production within a specified area would be coordinated among
the several owners to the mutual benefit of the local forest
industry and th;:SWner, proved popular. The forestry literature
of the period includes frequent favorable references to sustained
yield, and in 1937 Congress authorized the Sécretary of the
Zﬁterior to establish sustained yield units on the revested
Oregon and California Railroad lands in western Oregon. In

[ 5846t 1327

1944 Congress approved a similar program f{r the,Secretar of
Oanel. f{‘. ‘St;,«nru ! Pt fw,,r» \11, {.L‘ PO § /@.Lm[’g

Aérlculture and the Vast/Nétlonal Forest systemA The first

(and only) cooperative sustained yield unit appeared in the

em) v

Grays Harbor vicinity, where the Simpson Timber Company of

Shelton entered into a 100 year agreement with the Olympic

J

e rizi ’/ﬂg

National Forest to manage their adjacent ownerships as one
TL- Qt)mnu(f‘ V"“’ﬂuw'fvm Ws Wiy w7

it o 1614 LL/{q(lnc‘_

When Muck wrote to Nicholson in 1938 linking sustained

~
!

l&-lﬂq*_

jurisdiction.
K.\Hff

yield to selective logging, he was reiterating the substance of

his proposal of seven years earlier. But selective logging,

198Lee Muck and Percy E., Melis, "The Status of
Indian Forests in Relation to a National Program of Sustained
Yield," Bureau of Indian Affairs, September 15, 1931 (H-183),
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too, was taking on a new appearance in the Pacific Northwest.
Forest Service researchers published a monograph in 193 that
portrayed selective logging of Douglas fir as a reasonable
(99 Mad--

alternative to clear cutting. The fact that selective logging
allowed the taking of only the most valuable individual trees
caused many to see thig as a way of bolstering an industry
beset by economic woes. Among the opponents of selective
logging in the Douglas fir region were forestry specialists
like Thornton Munger who were convinced that cleaq:butting
was the most desirable silvicultural method. It is not clear
how many acres were logged in the Pacific Northwest following
the new selective logging guidelines, bﬁt at first opportunity
professional foresters reinstituted cleaf:gutting in thoée
areas where in their judgment selective logging practices were
inappropriate.

Selective logging and the management of timberlands
for purposes of sustained yield of raw material represented a
considerable change for the Northwest 1umber industry. JThe

American lumberman," one observer noted, "has no conception of
L0

A5

Most lumbermen, though, could accept
l/ FXEALEY .

such concepts, at least in theory. But Most Indians could
A

a sustained foregst.'

not, and as a result of the Wheeler-Howard Act their opposition

P we

JS@%‘ C. Mumaw to Hutchinson, n. d. but around fall
1934, Irving M. Clark Papers, Manuscripts Collection, Uni-
versity of Washington Library (H-107).

(aatn Bonf P Kicklond 1a fee( ). .78 revdcbenn | Selechius
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could be effective. The conflict between the aims of the
Roosevelt/ﬁaministration's policies of Indian self-government
and conservation of natural resources was revealed in the
debate over the future of the Quinault Lake Unit.

The Northwest lumber industry sufferegdfevere
economic difficulties during the early 19308[366‘ At the peak
of the depression, 1.5 million acres of forest land in Washington
state were subject to tax foreclosure.zoz_ Many companies went
under and many others had a difficult time avoiding that fate.
Among these latter companies was the Ozette Railway Company,
the logging contractor on Quinault Lake. The company had bid
higher prices for all speciles of timber than were obtained
by the B.I.A. for other sales units, and as a result had been

2@ The health of Alex

unable to operate since about 1931.
Polson, the company's president, had collapsed under the strain
of these developments.zoq' By 1934, Ozette was planning to
resume operations, superintendent Nicholson reported, provided

208

"a satisfactory price agreement can be arrived at."

ZOﬁU.S. Department of Interior, Annual Report of
the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 1932, 16 (H-186).

ZozT 5. Goodyear to F. E. Balmer, September 8, 1939,
Clarence D. Martin Papers, Washington State Archives (H 108).

20‘zFloyd H. Philips to Paul Coughlin, June 15, 1942,
Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-109).

20%jerome to Clark L. Ring, March 26, 1931, Merrill
& Ring Lumber Company Papers (H-110),

20'5Nlcholson to Muck, August 6, 1934, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-111).
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Most of the Quinault Lake allottees favored the
205

revision downward of the contract prices. "The Indians,
of course," Nicholson stated, "are anxious that something be
done in order that logging operations may be resumed éo that
funds will start coming in for their use."zog Under the
Wheeler-Howard Act, the Indians participated in the
renegotiation of the contract.

This presented some difficulties, as only 73 of the
178 Quinault Lake allottees resided on the reservation,bthe
rest being scattered throughout Washington, Oregoq}and
California. "The matter of explaining these matters to the
various allottees," Nicholson informed John Collier, "will
be rendered more difficult because of the fact that the allot-
tees affected reside over a large area and it would be impos-
sible to get a majority group of them together at any one
meeting."zog’ Nevertheless, a committee appointed by the
tribal council at Tahola helped draft the modified contract,
which was then sent to Washington for approval. The nationél
office, however, insisted that the revised contract contain
provisions requiring selective logging and a pooling of allotQ

ments not yet loggeq,so that all allottees would receive

2Oé'Nicholson to Muck, August 27, 1934, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-112).

2OzNicholson to Muck, August 6, 1934, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-111).

] 2OgNicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
April 17, 1935, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-113).
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annual payments rather than having to wait until the timber
was actually removed to receive the bulk of their income. O?
But the Indians opposed these requirements, especially the
former.

Lee Muck pointed out that the Quinault Lake Unit
was almost completely allotted. Therefore, "a modification
of the contract in such manner as to permit of practical
operations under authority thereof will require that fully 90
per cent of the allottees involved execute allotment contract
modifications--in fact, the entire setup requires full cooperation
from all parties in interest if the project is td be a success."
Muck visited Taholah in May 1935 to discuss the revision with
Eéyéifggtees. Those present voted 13-11 against the proposed
reduction in stumpage pricesw”gga rejected selective logging
by a vote of 14~3. "The verbal opposition to the proposed
plan of selective logging was almost entirely concerned with
the possibility of losses from windthrow," Muck reported.
"However, we are inclined to the opinion that the reduction
in income which would occur under this system is t%ipprincipal

reason for it not being received with more favor." _E The

Indians desired to receive full return on their holdings in

2OgNicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
December %b 1935, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-114),.
i

2E§Muck to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, May 11,
1935, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-115).
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the shortest possible time.

The B.I.A. suggested that a committee of Indians
investigate timber values in the Grays Harbor region so as
to determine for themselves the justice of the planned price
reduction.21p Four allottees were chosen for this task, but
only one made a personal survey of private, stat%)and federal
lands in the area. In their report, the four Indians affirmed
that the modified prices of $3.50 for Douglas fir and $1 for

hemlock "are fair prices for the timber in the Quinault Lake

214

Unit."

The Quinault business council called a meeting at
Tahola to consider the report, read by forest supervisor James
Howarth in the absence of the committee members. The gﬁiinﬂﬁ)
Indians present reaffirmed their right of review of all |
sections of the contract. They also expressed their opposition
to selective logging, which was defended by Howarth. "Their
argument was that the balance would blow down and go to waste,"
Howarth observed.. "The most positive reaction of the meeting
213

was the opposition to selective logging."

Ozette was ready to begin operations on a selective

ZlQNicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
September 23, 1935, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-116).

leReport to Indians Allotted in the Quinaielt Lake
Unit and Others Allotted North of Quinaielt River, November
9, 1935, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-117).

213y warth to Nicholson, November 21, 1935, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-118).
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logging basis, Nicholson wrote at the end of 1935, "taking all
the timber in some strips and taking out some of the larger
timber in the intervening strips, as much as we would
designate with the idea that the remaining timber would be
windfirm and also a fire barrier." But a majority of the
Indians were opposed and would reject any selective logging
requirement in the modified contract. "Only our practice
heretofore to disregard this selective logging provision,"
Nicholson pointed out, "seems now to stand in the way of our
enforcing it against the wishes of the allottees. And they
do more and more object to any system that will hold from log-
ging any substantial volume of their timber."21q—
A group of Indian representatives traveled to Washington,
D. C. in early 1936 for a conference on the Quinault Lake
hee Rade g,
with B.I.A. f%restry Pirector Robert Marshall, who would soon
become chief of the Division of Recreation and Lands of the
Forest Service and who was an outspoken wilderness'enthusiést.
ard—bee=Muek. Marshall informed the Indians that under the
revised contract "the old method of clear cutting will no
longer be pursued." All timber on the unit would eventually

be cut, but only about half would be removed the first time

over the unit, which would take a decade. "The value of

214T\Iicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
December 9, 1935, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-114).
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the total value of those parcels of land. Therefore, Nicholson

recorded, "the cutting pélicy on these allotted timbered areas

should be the policy which has been in effect on the reser-

vation and other coastal areas for many years. They feel that

their allotments, or at least part of the timber thereon,

should not be sacrificed in experiments involving other

methods of cutting." The Indians were willing to leave

selected areas of immature tim?er standing buf.insisted that

the rest be clean:but. If thfgfx;; not agreed to, they con-

templated a sult against the federal government. "They

feel . . . that in view of the drastic changes in cutting

policies, established without consultation with them, they

owe it to themselves to take some steps to protect their

property rights and to determine what rights, if any, they

have in the disposition of their timber.™o+/
Superintendent Nicholson believed that a court case

would result unless a softening of the B.I.A.'s position was

hﬁ\-’"/’ vy
218 But the word from Washingtoq‘was that compromise

forthcoming.
was out of the question. "All future sales should be made
with a clear understanding that destructive methods will not

be permitted and that a policy of light selection cutting must

217Nicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
September 10, 1937, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-121).

'218Nicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
September 22, 1938, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-122).
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prevail," Lee Muck informed Nicholson. As a practical matter,
the selective logging provisions 1n those contracts let prior
to the organization of the Quinaults under the Wheeler-Howard
Act would not be enforced. Those units, Muck stated, "probably
will not be developed under selection cufting methods. However,
thié condition should not deter us from forcing the practice
of forestry on all sales which may be made in the future."219
As predicted by Nicholson, a number of Indians brought
suit in federal court in early 1939, challenging the right of
the government to impose selective logging on the reéervation.22o
They questioned the authority of thellﬁterior/gécretary to
make timber regulations and contended that imposition of
selective logging was unfai;}because cleap:putting had been
allowed under the original contracts. The government countered
that the reservation would be worthless without its timber.
Therefore, it Was "imperative that every provision be taken
to the end that the Quinaielt Forest will be perpetuated.”z21
In his decision in the Eastman case, handed down in February

1940, Judge Yankivich ruled that the/gecretary’of the'Iﬁterior

did not have the right to issue regulations covering the sale

219Muck to Nicholson, October 15, 1938, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-82).

22ONicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
March 23, 1939, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-123). The
Indians' attorney, W. E. Ackerman of Aberdeen, apparently
hoped to become an agent for timber sales by Indian allottees
if he won the case. Philips to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
April 8, 1940, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-124).

221Memorandum re case of Eastman et al v. United States,
November 30, 1939, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-125),
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of allotted timber.222

Meanwhile, efforts had been underway to reach agree-
ment on a policy that would preserve timber for future generations
while producing an income for the current one. "We must look
at the situation from the allottee's point of wview," Nicholson
warned thelzgmmissioner, "for otherwise we will run into great
opposition. . . . We are sure that almost none of the allottees
will long remain quiet after logging their allotments if much
of the wvalues are left."223 Quinault forest personnel James
Howarth, Lester McKeever}and Frank Briggs reflected on the
dilemma. "None of us desire to see a continuation of the
practice of logging clean over wide areas," the three men
wrote. "But there must be some kind of compromise bewteen
the very light selection cutting and the older methods of
. cutting or knocking down everything. The Indians want all
their timber is worth and they want it now."‘z‘zL'L
Other factors in addition to Indian opposition helped
to make selective logging on the reservation impractical. The
evidence from five sample selective logging plots established

in 1938 indicated heavy 1osses from windfall, and high winds

222Oscar L. Chapman to Attorney General, May 7,
1940, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-126).

223Nicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
September 22, 1938, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-122).

22L'LMcKecs:ver, Frank Briggs and Howarth to Nicholson,
November 10, 1938, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-127).
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were frequent in the area. "A large amount of timber is
felled every decade in the Olympics by windstorms," a Forest
Service official noted in 1935. "Many billions of feet have
been laid low in this way in the last twenty five yeafs."225

In the major windstorm of December 1940, damage on the
experimental plots, forest supervisor A. G. Hauge reported,

"was very serious with practically no damage in adjacent virgin
timber.”226 Losses to wind continued to be serious thereafter.227
Topography and prevailing timber species also mili-

tated against selective logging, especially on the northern
half of the reservation, where new timber sales were being
contemplated in the early 1940s. "Because of the type of
stand and contributing soil, moisture and wind factors,"
superintendent George La Vatta wrote, "the areas on which
tree selection cutting can be practiced are limited to
restricted isolated areas."228 North of the river, commented

Hauge, "the broken topography and including poorly drained

swamp areas determine the necessity of donkey logging on a

225p, M. Brundage to Irving M. Clark, May 24, 1935,
I. Clark Papers (H-128).

226A. G. Hauge_to Thornton T. Munger, June 20,
1944, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-129).

227Hauge to La Vatta, June 5, 1944, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-130).

228La Vatta to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, June
12, 1944, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-131).
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sufficient acreage to eliminate the possibility of establishing
any extensive tractor logged tree selection areas." It would
be very difficult to leave selected trees or strips of trees

standing, and even if this was done they would surely blow

down.229

The only practicable means of ménaging the reservation
on‘a sustained yield basis involved area selection accompanied
by annual logging quotas. Cleaé:but plots would alternate
with areas left standing to provide for fire protection and
reproduction. Limitations on logging volume would enable
the areas first cut over to be again suitable for logging
by the time the original forest had been completely removed.

A report prepared by B.I.A. forester Carthon Patrie in the
late 1930s recommended that no more than 25 pe{jcent of the
old growth Douglas fir and cedar be removed in each of ﬁe~lﬂﬁt%
year cutting cycles.ZBO Quinault foresters argued that this
was unrealistic. "If successive cuttings 30 years apart are
restricted to a like percentage of the original volume," théy
contended, "then it would be 120 years after the first cutting

before the last of the original stand is cut. This is far

beyond a human life span and such a rule . . . would in

229Hauge to La Vatta, June 5, 1944, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-130).

230Nicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
September 22, 1938, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-122).
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effect be depriving the owner of the use of his property withqut

compensation and so unconstitutional as a law or regulation.“zj1
Reservation officials proposed that the annq&g?cut

on the Quinault be limited to{ggkhillion feet. Thisgwgaid

supposedly put timber operations on a sustained yield footing.

The Indians, in turn, suggested a quota of 100 million feet,

"so that," Hauge observed, "they will obtain the benefits to

w232 A quota of &5 - flu

be derived from the sale of their timber.
million feet a year was finally established in the mid-1940s.
This quota, ghperintendent Melvin Helander asserted in 1947,
was meant "to insure that cutting may be maintained as a con-
tinuous operation," an approach that was "based on sound economic
principles."233 But reliance on the questionable 1915-1917
crulse and fallure to prepare a comprehensi?e timber inventory
made it difficult to determine proper qguotas.

ClearC?utting, then, remained the prevailing practice

O all g s(w'yo

on the reservation, as it didAthroughout the NorthwesF,
[ANN “!'A i" W] {/P'f[,p‘ )

Because of climate, topography)&ﬂd soil conditionsv\it was the

only feasible means of harvesting timber on much of the reser-
Ao

vation. Amd it was the only method of logging acceptable to

the Indian allottees, who could exercise a considerable impact

231McKeever, et al., to Nicholson, November 10,
1938, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-127).

23%Hauge to La Vatta, June 5, 1944, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-130).

233Melvin Helander to Mrs. Mary Amelia Smith, January
31, 1947, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-132).
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on decision-making as a result of the Wheeler-Howard Act and

who opposed any plan that would not give them the most

immediate and complete return for their timber. ' CITE—EEE»

such pressure. Qggu}
Still, increasing emphasis was placed on such concernéf235ﬂ-
Regulations that forbade logging within a quarter mile of
the Olympic Highway were at least for a time enforced, despite
the protests of the Quinault business council that this "action
235
is unjust to the Indians."gaé

Reservation officials agreed
that this was the case. "We are heartily in sympathy with
preservation of virgin stands of timber along highways and
streams," N. 0. Nicholson informed the Indian Commissioner.
"But where this timber is privately owned we do not see how

this can be done by regulation alone." The government might

well mandate that small trees be left standing in such areas.

TSR .
23
235Prior to 1933, an average of only $30,000 a year
was expended nationally by the B.I.A. on conservation work
on Indian timberlands. J. P. Kinney, "E.C.W. on Indian
Reservations," Journal of Forestry, XXXI(February 1933),
911 (H-188).

e I
:592-3—6—- .
> Cleveland Jackson to Nicholson, August 17, 1936,
Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-133),
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"But to say that private timber shall never be cut is something
else entirely and we do nbt think 1t can stand in the courts
where the Government does not provide a way for paying its
full worth."zBé' Conservation work, such as the building of
fire trails, was also carried out by members of the Civilian

Conservation Corps, although there apparently were no C.C.C.

camps on the reservation.zB?

Reservation foresters also continued the policy of
not burning slash that had been established in the mid-19208.238
A study made of cutover lands demonstrated the wisdom of this

approach. "Where fires have been kept out of an area, the

class of stocking of reproduction has been satisfactory to

excellent," the survey concluded. But where areas had been

burned over after logging, only about 20 peflbent had be%?
satisfactorily restocked and 40 per _tent were unstocked.

Heof O clearcantliuly simadl ‘(JU’TZ,
The movement to area selection 1ogging,Amoreover, promised to

reduce extensive accumulations of slash and thus lessen the

23éNicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
~August 19, 1936, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-134).

23%\’Iemorandum, Locations and Names of all CCC Camps

in Washington, June 11, 1935, Martin Papers (H-135). Nationally,

over 15,000 Indians were employed by the C.C.C. Parman, "The
Indian and the Civilian Conservation Corps," 39-56 (H-187);
Calvin W. Gower, "The CCC Indian Division: Aid for Depressed
Americans," Minnesota History, XLIII(Spring 1972), 3-13 (H-136).

“38owarth to Marshall, September 23, 1935, Tahola
Indian Aggncy Records (H-137).

Vincent J. Keeler to District Forester, October
3, 1946, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-138). :
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240

fire danger. The only major impetus in favor of burning
came during World War II, when the/érmy urged coastal timber
owners to 6@£§f§i§§§€ﬁ?& slash¥in order to reduce the chance
that major forest fires would start and provide beacons for
Japanese naval movements.zut

The wishes of the Indians, as we have seen, received
considerably more attention than in the past and so did their
needs. "The present administration," one company wés informed,
"insists that Indians be trained in forestry as weil as in
other lines to fill jobs in the Indian Service."zuz' Accordingly,
a number of Indians were trained to scale logs on the sales

24B

units. This brought a series of protests from loggers,
with Paul Smith complaining that "it is not fair to the
operators to use Indians for this purpose because they would
naturally have a bias in favor of the Indians who are selling

the timber. It would be practically the same proposition as

a saw mill buying logs on the loggers scale instead of on the

240

Nicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
September 10, 1937, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-121).

ZuzGeneral Robert H. Lewilis to Arthur B. Langlie,
March 4, 1943, Arthur B. Langlie Papers, Washington State
Archives (H-139).

' 242Nicholson to Washington Pulp and Paper Corp.,
April 5, 1938, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-140).

248y cholson to W. H. Dole, December 19, 1935,
Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-141). '
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Bureau scale."zwg' Forester James Howarth countered that the

Indian trainees were carefully supervised and "have done very

248

well and have shown no disposition to favoritism.

Consideration of the Indians had impfoved markedly
since the days of the early 1920s. For the most part agency

offficials viewed their primary clients as the allottees
Or—f-—j" h@ua ‘E;, ' )*'1 ‘ —\“. l\)' /A t‘ lOL('(
This did not mean, however, that the w " tphe e

I LSt Lt,‘\" fee £.1y

Jdeggexr was ignored.
%wékgﬁh Only one small timber unit was sold during the 1930s

i
d)j—’

and operations on the original units were frequently idled
because of adverse economic conditions. Quinault foresters

thus had less work in connection with administration of the

timber units and they also had less money with which to operate.
As income from timber sales %}m}nished, so too did the balance
on hand in the Treasuriagg;;;J:Q finance forestry operations.
The fund had reached a high point of $60,000 in 1928, but

fell into the red by 1932 and had accumulated a deficit of
nearly $80,000 by 1938. Forest.ﬁhpervisor Howarth requested

that the administrative fee be increased to the maximum

allowable 10 pe{:bent, so as to strengthen the financial

2Mb< i th to Nicholson, December 23, 1935, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-142). The Aloha Lumber Company
maintained that Indian assistant scaler James Bryson was
overscaling by 500 to 1,000 feet per railroad car. Nicholson
tg ?ole, December 19, 1935, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-
141

Howarth to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, January
6, 1936, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-143).
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posifion, but was turned down.zub There may have been
less administrative work and restricted funds, but thefe
was no surfeit of problems involving logging operations.
B.I.A. officials had to deal with frequent complaints
from small logging operators in the Grays Harbor region that
they were being deprived of a chance to acquire Quinault
timber. The companies that had purchased the sales units,
the small loggers charged, controlled access to the reser-
vation. This was not true, superintendent Philips countered
'in 1942, as the units under contract "do not necessarily
restrict any logging activity or create any right of way
problems." Future contracioré would have no difficulty
building truck roads and could use the Ozette Railway; which
was a common carrier. Philips also rejected charges that the
large operators were being allowed to pay prices '"not more than
one half the prices" charged by the'Forest Service on its
ad jacent Cook Creek Unit. It was true that Douglas fir
stumpage cost $5.56 per thousand feet on the latter and only
$3.25 on the Quinault Lake Unit. But, maintained Philips,
"the Cook Creek Unit on all species presents a higher average

quality" and also was "an exceptionally favorable" location

2L"é}[owarth to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
March 19, 1938, Tahola Indian Agency Records .
CH-43)) .
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for logging.zug

Under pressure from allottees and in order to mollify
the small loggers, a number of smala;ifles had been made
during the depression years. About\ﬁg such sales were made
between 1935 and 1937, mostly along the Olympic Highway and
usually limited to ngacres. "Generally the loggers contact
the Indian owners who come in and urge us to sell their timber,"
Howartn
Lelredmon wrote. At least half of those persons employed as a
result were supposed to be Indians or related by marriage to
an Indiam.zb"9 While making some concessions to the small
operators, however, most administrative work continued to
focus on the major companies logging the sales units.

The B.I.A. was no longer willing to agree to the
waiver of cutting reguirements. "Under previous admini-
strations,”" W. H. Dole of the Aloha Lumber Company noted in
late 1933, "if we‘found that we could not log all the timber
annually required by our contracts, we would apply to the
Commissioner of Indian Affairs for acceptance of a lesser
amount as complying in full with our contracts. This has

always been given, so as to keep our contracts in good

standing." But John Collier indicated that this would no

ZugPhlllps to Commmigsioner of Indian Affairs,
May 18, 1942, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-146).

2UGy. Howarﬂ +o Bichelse

Peadralaoon tao Commiaecsioner of Indian Affad o
October 35, 1937, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-147).
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244
longer be standard procedure.353 This decision created a

rather serious problem for reservation loggers.
The National Industrial Recovery Act, keystone of
the Roosevelt Administration's initial efforts to combat the
depression, authorized individual industries to establish
production quotas as a means of controlling output and forcing
up prices. Such quotas were implemented by the N.R.A. lumber
code authority, quotas théTconflicted with B.I.A. contract
specifications. "It would seem as though we stand in a peculiar
position between two Government powers,"” Dole observed, '"namely
the N.R.A. and the Department of the Interior, one requiring
that we log our full contract requirements and the other
limiting our production to 50% or less of these requirements."
A real dilemma confronted Dole)and he urged that the N.R.A.
attempt to have the Interior Department overrule the policy
of its Indian Office.250
Relief was not obtained before the N.R.A. collapsed,
first from Bureaueratic confusion and then by order of the
Supreme Court in 1935. "Neither this office nor the Washington
Office are desirous of imposing any undue hardship on you,"

Nicholson informed Dole in reference to a request that cutting

e =

Agggbole to Production Committee, Pacific Northwest
Loggers Association, October 5, 1933, Aloha Lumber Company
Papers (H-148).

250114,
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requirements on the Mounts Unit be waived. "You should realize,
however, that the Indian owners of this stumpage are entitled
to some consideration. They entered into these contracts
with the expectation that the amounts specified in the contracts
would reasonably be cut, and that these amounts would be
distributed for the benefit of the individual Indians effected."
Aloha had failed to cut the required timber for several years
by 1937 and the B.I.A. was insisting thaﬁ an extra advance
payment be made to the allottees as compensation. The Indians,
Nicholson pointed out, "feel Eggt they are entitled to some
consideration in the matter.’

Less than a year later, however, Nicholson supported
Aloha's request for a waiver of cutting and payment requirements
on the Hall Unit. "From our information and belief as to the
financial ability of the Aloha Lumber Company and the market
conditions,"” he told the Indian ommissioner, "we are confident
that the company did all that it was able to do in the past
contract year to perform its obligations." If extra advence
payments were required, furthermore, "the company could not
meet them." The contract prices on the unit, Nicholson con-
tinued, "are all that we figure the timber is worth and more

than it would likely sell for at this time," and only "possible

s
55%%icholson to Dole, September 9, 1937, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-149).
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financial disaster" would prevent Aloha from eventually
removing the timber. 0%
The improved lumber market during World War II led
to an increase in contract prices on the reservation in.mid—
1942. The price of Douglas fir on the Quinault Lake Unit,
for example, was increased from $3.25 per thousand feet to
$4.25, while hemlock jumped from $1 to $1.7525E The Quinault
council had voted unanimously in favor of these increases,zj#
Ahd they were put into effect despite the opposition of the
logging operators. "While it is true the market prices on
/hemlock/ logs have advanced considerably," D. A. Kurtz, general
manager of Aloha, maintained, "all other costs have risen on
the same scale until returns are zbout on the same basis they
were two or three years ago."255
The loggers received more consideration in other

areas. In late 1945, reservation officials endorsed a waiver

of minimum cut requirements for the Ozette Railway Company.

253Nicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
April 21, 1938, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-150).

Zinhilips to Coughlin, June 15, 1942, Tahola Indian
Agency Records (H-109). :

25¢?hilips to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, May
13, 1942, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-151).

25680 A. Kurtz to Philips, May 26, 1942, Tanhola
Indian Agency Records (H-152).
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The company had fallen short because of the wartime labor
shortage. "Many of the experienced regular employees,"
superintendent La Vatta noted, " . . . were taken in the
defense industries or were attracted by the high returns
~ obtained from commercial fishing." The Indians meeting at
Tahola had voted 10-1 against relief for Ozette, but only four
of those voting were Quinault Lake allottees. Thus, La Vatta
argued, "the general meeting which we called did not constitute
a poll of the allottee timber owners and the action taken on
this contract provision may prove detrimental rather than of
benefit to the interests of the zllottee timber owners."zBE’
While looking after the work on past sales, reser-
vation foresters were also planning the sale of new units.
Only one small unit, the eight allotment Milwaukee Trail Unit,
had been sold since 1928, and owners of allotments north of
the river were pressing for sales so that they could begin to
realize an income from their holdings. There was an estimated
two billion feet of timber, most of it cedar and hemlock, on
the northern half of the reservation.zB? This timber was not

as desirable as that south of the river. "Much of the cedar,"

ZBELa Vatta to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
October 9, 1945, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-153).

258ﬁauge and McKeever to La Vatta, September 22,
1943, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-154),
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agency clerk Vincent J. Keeler pointed out, "is swamp type
rough over mature and dead of poor quality with a high per-
centage of defect."258 Though lacking in quality, the timber
still promised to bring a good return for its owners.

Utilizing thelr new influence, allottees from north
of the river began urging new sales in the mid-1930s. The
Quinault council voted 18-0 in favor of selling the remaining
reservation timber in November 1935. The voters demanded that
contracts require removal of the timber withinhég*years and
that cleaqi?utting be allowed. Some of the Indians, forest
supervisor James Howarth recorded, called for payment of the
"full value of the timber at the start rather than ten percent."
There was more interest among the Indians in prosgsctive new
sales than in any other matter, Howarth observed.

Sales were discussed in detail when tribal council
representatives journeyed to the nation's capital in January
1936 for meetings with B.I.A. forestry division administrators.
"The present time is a very poor time to make a sale of
Indian Stumpage," the representatives were told, "because of
the low stumpage prices now being paid." A large amount of

privatelng;ned timber in western Washington was being dumped

258Vincent J. Keeler to Commissioner of‘Indian
Affairs, April 5, 1943, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-

155).

Howarth to Nicholson, November 21, 1935, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-118).
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on thé market by white men eager to get out from under their
tax burden. "This procedure," B.I.A. officials contended,
"while it may be good for white men who have to pay taxes,

does not seem desirable for Indians who do not." The allottees
should subsist on their federal relief payments until market
conditions improved.26D Nevertheless, the Indians continued

to press for timber sales.

The timber on the northern half of the feservation
was less desirable than that previously sold. The depressed
national economy also militated against sale of new units,
as purchasers would have to make some two million dollars in
advance payments.26t "The large amount of money necessary
for advance payments and including interest on the money over
a period of years," Keeler commented, "is an important
contributing factor in making this timber unattractive to
prospective purchasers."262‘ In order to relieve the pressure,
reservation officials allowed a number of small sales north
of the river during the 1930s, despite the fact that they
were, according to Nicholson, "costly to'administer." He
reported that "until all this northern half timber is under

contract to some big and wealthy operator or bought up by the

260

Conference Between Quinailelt Indian Delegation
and Forestry Division in Washington Office, January 24,
1936, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-119).

26zNicholson to Commissioner of IndianiAffairs,
September 22, 1938, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-122).

262Keeler to Commissioner of Indian Affairs, April
5, 1943, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-155). '
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tribe or Government we will be continually pressed to sell
in small bits as often as market conditions pick up a 1ittle."26B
Serious planning for a new sale, which would combine
all allotments north of the river into one huge unit, began
during the war years. The Ozette Railway Company expressed
most interest in acquiring the timber on this basis. "We
believe," company head Arnold Polson wrote, "that if this
timber can be handled as one unit, on a fair basis, it will
be possible to practice better forestry and give better fire
protection than would be done by two or more operators working
A independently, without adequate interchange of facilities."

Also

Axd the ma?ket could be exploited more efficiently as well.
Polson.gi;gh;roposed that allottees be paid a percentage of

the sales price attained by the logger rather than by the
prevailing system of advance payments, with prices periodically
ad justed according to an assessment of market conditions.

There was "a lag of time" before allottees could benefit

from rising prices under the current system, Polson pointed
out, while they were not compensated for this lag during

periods of falling prices because the logger normally shut

down operations.2 g Foresters Hauge and McKeever agreed that

26;'Nicholson to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
September 22, 1938, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-122).

26¢:Arnold Polson to La Vatta, September 10, 1943,
Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-156).
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the percentage payment scheme "would be a very fair

L2686 But

arrangemeht to both the Indians and the operator.
by abandoning the advance payment format, the scheme would
allow Polson, Keeler objected, to "tie up all of the /remaining/
timber on the reservation" without turning over any money;26é
With the Polson proposal as one possible course,
discussions were held with the allottees during the latter
part of the war. The allottees "are very much concerned,"”
superintendent La Vatta reported, "in that the timber is a
mature virgin stand and should be cut so as to prevent
further losses from deterioration, windthrow, diseases, insect
infestation, or other causes, and to make possible the reali-
zation of some income and benefits, especially to the many
elderly and indigent Indians represented in the ownership."
The Indians had "strongly expressed” their desire that the
timber be sold.26?
There was a dispute over how much timber should be
cut per year on the new sale unit in order to practice sustained
yield. Indians and loggers both desired an annual cut of
100 million feet, while agency foresters believed that 40 to

50 million feet "would maintain the operation for 45 to 50

years when the second growth would begin to come into pro-

26“s.Hauge and McKeever to La Vatta, September 22,
1943, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-154).

26ZMinutes of Staff Meeting, April 17, 1945, Tahola
Indian Agency Records (H-157).

26?La Vatta to Commissioner of Indian Affairs,
May 28, 1945, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-158),
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w268 It was finally determined that a sale would be

duction.
made in 1947, although scaﬁ&? down to half a billion feet of
timber on 440 allotments. =0 The sale of large units was
~justified in the same fashion as two decades earlier. "Scat-
tered logging operations and sales," superintendent Melvin
Helander noted in 1948, "destroy the 'method and order in

270 But the sale of

harvesting' required by the regulations.”
new units was delayed until the early 1950s, when the Taholah
and Crane Creek units were sold.
The New Deal years brought significant alterations

in the way in which B.I.A. foresters app¥oached their task on
the Quinault. The Indians were broughéZ%%to the picture as
participants in the formulation of reservation policy. ABES
15é implicatibns of clear cutting and other standard forest
practices caused a new appreciation for chservation to come
to the fore. Indian involvement and conservation were both
admirable and overdue policies, but the former canceled out
the latter as a realistic possibility to a significant extent.
As often occurs, good sentiments resulted in confusion. Once

again, the difficulties of applying theory to reality had been

demonstrated.

268Hauge and McKeever to La Vatta, September 22,
1943, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-154).

Helander to Metzler, McCormick and Metzler,
November 19, 1946, Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-159).

27£ﬁelander to Edwin Scarborough, June 21, 1948
Tahola Indian Agency Records (H-160),
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From a management standpoint, conditions on the
Quinault Indian Reservation had always been rather unique.
The allotment system imposed severe problems on those persons
charged with the care of reservation timber resources.
Efficient management required that the reservation be considered
as a whole, but the allotment system required that it be ' con-
sidered in fragments. The Quinault was not a forest, but a
congeries of mini-forests, legislatiﬁe fiat having imposed
an artificial grid on the more logical organigzation of
geography. Management was as a result expensive, uncertain
and inefficient. The gathering together of timber holdings
into sales units only partially bbviated the problems resulting
from allotment. Because of this distinctive feature, there is
really no way in which the adequacy of management can be
compared to that on adjacent public and private ‘lands. The
various jurisdictions adjoined each other, but a vast gulf
separated them.

As foresters, B.I.A. officials on the peservation

oo [

mirrored developments in their profession in thg«Nopthwest

and reflected the policies of the executive branch of the
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federal governmentA During the 1920s, they werexprimafily
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s, was extremely difficult,
primarily becanse the Indians themselves were opposed to such
measures. Non-B.I.A. foresters did not have to contend with

, wly
such opposition, as federal and state égzg;;meﬂ%e and most

lumber companies intended to stay in business beyond the life

spans of their current leaders.
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the present.
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\unimpressive from the perspective of the 1970s.

the unique problems facing them,

The allottees were not

wanting only maximum return in

The actions of B.I.A. personnel may well seem ¥ hacc

But considering

it is no wonder that the

development of forestry on the reservation was halting and

uncertaig}and the morale of foresters was <fimsmg low.
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